

LUND UNIVERSITY

Tomographic ventilation-perfusion lung scintigraphy in cardiopulmonary disease

Jögi, Jonas

2011

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Jögi, J. (2011). *Tomographic ventilation-perfusion lung scintigraphy in cardiopulmonary disease*. Department of Clinical Physiology, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2011:4

Tomographic ventilation-perfusion lung scintigraphy in cardiopulmonary disease

JONAS JÖGI



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Medicine

> Doctoral Thesis 2011

Department of Clinical Physiology, Lund University, Sweden

Faculty Opponent Professor Göran Hedenstierna, Uppsala University, Sweden

ISSN 1652-8220 • ISBN 978-91-86671-50-1

The public defence of this thesis will, with due permission from the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University, take place in Föreläsningssal 3, Skåne University Hospital, Lund, on Friday, January 14, 2011 at 9.00 am

ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-86671-50-1

Department of Clinical Physiology, Lund University S-221 85 Lund

Typeset with WIFE ver 1.0 Printed by: Mediatryck, Lund, Sweden.

©Jonas Jögi Jonas.jogi@med.lu.se

"If you think you have things under control, you are not going fast enough" -Mario Andretti

Contents

List of publications	7
Summary	9
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)	11
Abbreviations	15
Introduction	17
Respiration	17
Cardiopulmonary diseases that affect pulmonary ventilation and perfusion	21
Objective imaging methods in the diagnosis of PE and	
cardiopulmonary disease	29
Aims	39
Materials and methods	41
Study populations	41
V/P SPECT acquisition	42
Spirometry, lung volumes and diffusion capacity for carbon-monoxide	43
HRCT	43
Symptoms, the effect of breathlessness and	
functional state in COPD patients	44
Perfusion gradients in LHF	44
Qualitative assessment of V/P SPECT images	46
Statistical analysis	47
Results and Comments	49
V/P SPECT in the diagnosis of LHF (Study I)	49
Comparison of 99mTc-DTPA and 99mTc-Technegas (Study II)	52
V/P SPECT in the diagnosis and classification of COPD (Study III)	55
V/P SPECT in the follow up of treated PE (Study IV)	57
Major conclusions	59
Bibliography	61
Acknowledgements	71
Papers I-IV	73

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following papers, which in the text will be referred to by their Roman numerals.

I.	Jögi J, Palmer J, Jonson B, Bajc M. Heart failure diagnostics based on ventilation/perfusion single photon emission computed tomography pattern and quantitative perfusion gradients. <i>Nucl Med Commun.</i> 2008; 29(8):666-73
II.	Jögi J , Jonson B, Ekberg M, Bajc M. Ventilation-perfusion SPECT with 99mTc-DTPA versus Technegas: a head-to-head study in obstructive and nonobstructive disease. <i>J Nucl Med.</i> 2010; 51(5): 735-41
III.	Jögi J , Ekberg M, Jonson B, Bozovic G, Bajc M. Ventilation/Perfusion SPECT in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an evaluation by reference to symptoms, spirometric lung function and emphysema, as assessed with HRCT. <i>Submitted</i> .
IV.	Begic A*, Jögi J *, Hadziredzepovic A, Kucukalic-Selimović E, Begovic-Hadzimuratovic S, Bajc M. Tomographic ventilation/perfusion lung scintigraphy in the monitoring of the effect of treatment in pulmonary embolism: serial follow-up over a 6-month period. <i>Submitted</i> .

* These authors contributed equally to the study and are listed in alphabetical order.

Published papers are reprinted with permission from the respective copyright holders.

Summary

Respiration is essential to life and relies, among other things, on the balance between regional ventilation and perfusion. There are many cardiopulmonary diseases, such as pulmonary embolism (PE), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and left heart failure (LHF), which can affect respiration negatively. The diagnosis of PE, COPD and LHF follows separate diagnostic pathways. The symptoms that cause the patient to seek medical care are overlapping. This results in a diagnostic dilemma that is complicated by the fact that cardiopulmonary diseases often coexist.

Ventilation and perfusion can be imaged with lung scintigraphy. Lung scintigraphy is primarily used to diagnose PE. In recent years, the introduction of 3-dimensional tomographic ventilation-perfusion lung scintigraphy (V/P SPECT) has resulted in an improved accuracy in the diagnosis of PE. Follow-up with V/P SPECT may lead to better individualization of PE treatment, but has not yet been evaluated. Changes in ventilation and perfusion are also found in COPD and LHF. V/P SPECT may have a clinical role in the diagnosis and characterization of COPD and LHF, but this has been insufficiently studied. Therefore, this thesis focuses on the potential role of V/P SPECT in the follow-up of PE and in the diagnosis and classification of LHF and COPD.

In **study I**, we found that V/P SPECT can be used to diagnose LHF with a high positive predictive value. We developed an algorithm to objectively calculate perfusion gradients and found that an inverted gravitational gradient in the lungs is indicative of LHF. It was also shown that LHF was common among patients with suspected PE.

In **study II**, we compared ventilation studies performed with ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Technegas, in patients with and without obstructive lung disease. This study showed that ^{99m}Tc-Technegas, due to a more homogeneous distribution with less focal deposition and better peripheral penetration, should be regarded as the preferred radioaerosol in V/P SPECT studies.

Study III indicated an additional value of V/P SPECT in the diagnosis of COPD, compared to HRCT and spirometry. V/P SPECT could also be used to characterize the severity of COPD.

In study IV, we found that restoration of regional perfusion after acute PE occurred during the first 3 months of treatment, but not thereafter. Follow-up after an episode of PE, using V/P SPECT, seems important since about 20% of the patients had remaining perfusion defects at 3 months after diagnosis, although all were free from symptoms.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning (Summary in Swedish)

En välfungerande andning med utbyte av syrgas och koldioxid mellan kroppen och omgivningen är en förutsättning för liv. För att detta gasutbyte ska fungera krävs bl. a. att ventilationen, dvs. in- och utflödet av luft i lungorna, står i balans med blodflödet genom lungorna. I lungorna tar blodet emot syrgas som behövs för att cellerna i kroppen ska fungera och samtidigt avges den koldioxid som kroppen bildat i ämnesomsättningen. Det finns många sjukdomstillstånd i hjärta och lungor som kan påverka gasutbytet negativt. Flera av dem är allvarliga och några behöver snabb behandling. Exempel på sådana sjukdomstillstånd är lungembolism (LE), hjärtsvikt och kronisk obstruktiv lungsjukdom (KOL).

Akut LE kan uppträda när man drabbats av en blodpropp i benen. Bitar av det levrade blodet i benen kan då lossna och transporteras till lungorna där det orsakar en avstängning av ett eller flera kärl. LE är ett allvarligt tillstånd som kräver snabb behandling med blodförtunnande mediciner.

Hjärtsvikt kännetecknas av att hjärtat inte längre klarar att tillgodose de krav som kroppen ställer. Patienten drabbas då av andfåddhet, tilltagande trötthet och vätskeansamling i bland annat lungorna. En tidigt insatt behandling förbättrar oftast förloppet för patienten.

KOL är en inflammatorisk sjukdom som främst drabbar luftvägar och lungvävnad. Sjukdomen leder till att luftflödet hindras och till att lungvävnaden förstörs; det bildas emfysem. Rökning är orsaken till KOL i 90 % av fallen. Många har KOL utan att veta om det eftersom besvären kommer smygande. En tidig diagnos är viktig eftersom tidigt insatta åtgärder med rökstopp är den effektivaste behandlingen.

Besvären som dessa olika sjukdomstillstånd orsakar, i form av t ex andfåddhet, tilltagande trötthet, obehag från bröstet och hosta, är gemensamma. Tillvägagångssätten för att ställa diagnoserna LE, hjärtsvikt och KOL skiljer sig dock åt. Detta leder till ett diagnostiskt dilemma som förstärks av det faktum att sjukdomarna ofta förekommer samtidigt. Fördelningen av ventilationen och blodflödet i lungorna kan avbildas med lungscintigrafi. Lungscintigrafi är en nuklearmedicinsk metod som främst använts för att diagnostisera akut LE. På senare år har introduktionen av 3-dimensionell tomografisk lungscintigrafi (V/P SPECT) lett till en förbättrad diagnostik avseende LE. V/P SPECT skulle också kunna ha en roll i uppföljningen av patienter som drabbats av LE för att möjliggöra en mer individuellt anpassad medicinering. Detta är dock ännu inte studerat. Förändringar i ventilation och lungblodflöde ses också vid hjärtsvikt och KOL. V/P SPECT skulle eventuellt även kunna bidra till en bättre diagnostik och klassificering av dessa tillstånd. Denna avhandling fokuserar således på den möjliga rollen för V/P SPECT vid uppföljning av LE och vid diagnostik och klassificering av hjärtsvikt och KOL.

I studie I fann vi att V/P SPECT kan användas för att diagnostisera vänstersidig hjärtsvikt. Finner man en omfördelning av blodflödet till mer högt belägna delar av lungorna talar detta med relativt stor säkerhet för att patienten lider av vänstersidig hjärtsvikt. I studien utvecklade vi också en programvara för att objektivt beräkna denna omfördelning av blodflödet. En annan observation var att förekomsten av hjärtsvikt var så hög som 15 % hos patienter där man egentligen misstänkte ett de led av LE.

För att kunna studera ventilationen är det viktigt att de radioaktiva ämnen som används verkligen avbildar ventilationen på ett tillförlitligt sett. De måste därför följa luftströmmarna ända ut i lungornas minsta delar, alveolerna. Oftast används Technetium (^{99m}Tc) märkta aerosoler som patienten får andas in. Detta är lätthanterligt och ger en låg stråldos till patienten. De vanligaste aerosolerna är ^{99m}Tc-DTPA och ^{99m}Tc-Technegas. Trots att dessa aerosoler skiljer sig åt i sina egenskaper har man ännu inte studerat hur deras förmåga att avspegla ventilation skiljer sig hos en och samma patient. I **studie II** ville vi därför studera detta, både hos patienter med och hos patienter utan KOL. Vi fann att ^{99m}Tc-Technegas, pga en jämnare fördelning och en bättre förmåga att tränga ut i lungornas periferi, är att föredra vid ventilationsstudier med V/P SPECT.

I studie III använde vi oss av V/P SPECT för att studera patienter med KOL. Resultaten från V/P SPECT undersökningarna jämfördes med resultaten från spirometri och skiktröntgen (CT) samt relaterades till hur mycket symtom och vilken grad av funktionsnedsättning patienterna hade. Denna studie talar för att V/P SPECT kan bidra vid diagnostiken av KOL och att V/P SPECT också kan användas för att bedöma svårighetsgraden av den obstruktiva lungsjukdomen.

I studie IV använde vi V/P SPECT för att följa sjukdomsförloppet för patienter som behandlades för akut LE. Patienterna följdes med upprepade V/P SPECT undersökningar under sex månader för att se hur fort störningarna i blodflödet normaliserades. I denna studie fann vi att den förbättring av lungfunktionen som sker, den sker inom de första tre månaderna. Blodflödesstörningar som kvarstår efter tre månader förefaller sedan att kvarstå väsentligen oförändrade. Bland de patienter som ingick i studien hade c:a 20% kvarstående defekter i blodflödet tre månader efter diagnos, trots att de alla då var fria från besvär. Kvarstående lungembolier är en riskfaktor för att utveckla förhöjda tryck i lungartärerna. Även om större studier behövs, talar detta för att en objektiv uppföljning med V/P SPECT 3 månader efter akut LE kan vara betydelsefull för att bättre styra den fortsatta handläggningen av patienterna.

Abbreviations

^{81m} Kr	^{81m} Krypton
^{99m} Tc	^{99m} Technetium
¹³¹ Xe	¹³¹ Xenon
ATS	American thoracic society
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
CT	Computed tomography. In the text used for X-ray computed
	tomography.
CTPA	CT pulmonary angiography
D _L CO	Diffusion capacity for carbon monoxide
DTPA	Diethylene triamine pentaacetic acid
EF	Ventricular ejection fraction, i.e. stroke volume/end-diastolic
	volume.
ERS	European respiratory society
FEV ₁	Forced expiratory volume in 1 second
%FEV ₁	Forced expiratory volume in 1 second as percent of predicted
FVC	Forced vital capacity
FRC	Functional Residual Capacity
GOLD	Global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease
HRCT	High resolution CT
LHF	Left heart failure
LMWH	Low molecular weight heparin
MMAD	Mass median aerodynamic diameter
O ₂	Oxygen
PE	Pulmonary Embolism
PPV	Positive predictive value
SPECT	Single photon emission computed tomography
TLC	Total lung capacity
VC	Vital capacity
V/P	Ventilation/Perfusion

Introduction

Respiration

Respiration could be defined as the processes concerned in gas exchange between an organism and its surroundings.¹ In complex multicellular animals, such as humans, the major goals of respiration are to provide the tissue cells with oxygen (O_2) , which they need to live and carry out their functions, and to remove carbon dioxide (CO₂) formed by intracellular metabolic processes.¹

Functional role of the respiratory system

Because of the distance between the surrounding air and the innermost cells, an effective respiratory system is needed. The basic processes of the respiratory system are usually separated into four key functions:¹

- ventilation: the movement of air between the outside atmosphere and the lung alveoli.
- pulmonary diffusion: the movement of O₂ and CO₂ across the alveolarcapillary membrane.
- perfusion: the inflow of deoxygenated mixed venous blood from the body to the gas-exchange units by the pulmonary arterial circulation. Then the transport of oxygenated blood from the lungs, through the pulmonary veins and out to the tissue cells of the body.
- regulation of ventilation in accordance with changing metabolic demands.

As the CO_2 level in arterial plasma is controlled by changes in ventilation, this process has an important role in the regulation of acid-base balance and in maintaining constant conditions in the internal environment (homeostasis).^{1,2}

In cardiopulmonary disease, respiration may directly or indirectly be

compromised in a variety of ways, by alterations in ventilation, perfusion or disturbances in gas-exchange over the alveolar-capillary membrane.

The anatomy of the lungs

The most important organ in the human respiratory system is the lungs, which occupies a major part of the thoracic cavity. Each lung is surrounded by pleurae and is connected to the mediastinum at the hilum by blood and lymphatic vessels, nerves and main bronchi. Each lung is subdivided into lobes. In the right lung there are the upper, middle and lower lobes, partitioned by the oblique and horizontal fissures. The left lung is subdivided by the oblique fissure into the upper and lower lobes.³ Each lobe is in turn subdivided into a number of bronchopulmonary segments, which are the independent anatomical and functional units of the lungs.^{3,4} Each segment is served by its own segmental artery and vein, and exchange air with the atmosphere by an independent segmental bronchus.³ The bronchopulmonary segments are clinically important as many pulmonary diseases typically affect the lungs in a segmental manner.^{4,5}

After entering the bronchopulmonary segments, the bronchus divides repeatedly up to about 20 times, and gives rise to the bronchioles.^{6,7} Bronchioles are <1 mm in diameter and lack cartilage in their walls. Bronchioles divide into terminal respiratory bronchioles, which finally branches into alveolar sacs consisting of several alveoli. The alveoli are surrounded by a capillary network, and these together with the terminal respiratory bronchioles form the basic gas-exchanging units of the lungs. Although ventilation occurs primarily via the bronchial system, alveoli can to some degree be aerated through collateral ventilation if conducting airways have been blocked.

The gas-exchanging units receive mixed venous blood from the right chamber through the pulmonary circulation, whereas the rest of the lung parenchyma, including conducting airways, is supplied from the bronchial circulation.³ The bronchial arteries originate from the aorta and provide the lung parenchyma with oxygenated blood.

The pulmonary circulation is a low pressure system. In the normal human, the pulmonary arterial pressures are about 25/8 mmHg, with a mean arterial pressure of 15 mmHg.¹ The pulmonary capillary system is the largest capillary bed in the body with a surface area of up to 80 m².⁷ Under normal resting conditions the blood volume of the lungs is about 9 % of the total blood volume.¹ This proportion can rapidly change due to a range of physiological as well as pathophysiological conditions, such as body position, exercise, bleeding or left heart failure (LHF).

Breathing under normal conditions

Breathing is controlled by the autonomous nervous system that regulates the depth and rate of breathing in response to the body's needs, primarily the plasma CO₂ level. Breathing can also, to a large degree, be voluntarily controlled, e.g. when speaking or holding your breath.⁸ In humans, inhalation is driven by the build-up of negative pressures in the most distal airways.

In the normal lung, the air in the alveoli is in continuum with the surrounding atmosphere through the conducting airways. Therefore, when no airflow occurs and the glottis is open, the pressure in the alveoli equals the surrounding atmospheric pressure. Under these conditions, the only force that prevents the elastic lung from collapsing is the slightly negative pressure in the pleural space. During inspiration, when the pleural cage expands, the pleural pressure becomes more negative. Dependent on the elastic forces of the lung, this causes a fall in the alveolar pressure so that it becomes slightly lower than the atmospheric pressure. As a result air flows into the alveoli. The opposite conditions occur during expiration. Then, the alveolar pressure exceeds the atmospheric pressure and forces the air out from the alveoli.

The extensive branching of airways leads to a progressive increase in cross sectional area and hence lowered resistance with every division.⁶ In the normal lung, only about 25% of the intrathoracic airway resistance is located in bronchi and bronchioles.⁹ Moreover, as the airways from trachea and down only account for about 50% of the total airway resistance, the small airways (< 2 mm) only account for 10-15% of the total airway resistance. Therefore, pathological processes may accumulate for many years in the peripheral conducting airways with very little symptoms or signs of disease. Mead named this "the Lung's quiet zone".¹⁰

Ventilation and perfusion distribution in the normal lungs

Pleural pressure varies along the direction of gravity.¹¹⁻¹⁴ This difference in pleural pressure, and hence the transpulmonary pressure, has been regarded the main reason to the observed vertical gradient in lung expansion.^{15,16} At functional residual capacity (FRC) the alveoli were found to be less expanded in lower parts of the lungs compared to upper regions.¹⁴⁻¹⁸ This leaves the dependent alveoli more compliant to expand at the beginning of inspiration.¹⁴ Early studies, using radioactive gases, confirmed that ventilation was greater in lower compared to upper lung regions.^{14-16,19}

The regional blood flow was also demonstrated to be non-uniform,

following the same vertical distribution as ventilation, with greater perfusion in lower compared to upper regions of the lungs. 20,21

These observations lead to the formation of the zonal model by West et al. in which the non-uniform distributions of regional ventilation and perfusion are explained by the shared forces of gravity.^{22,23} The early studies using radioactive tracers examined relatively large lung regions. Several contemporary as well as subsequent studies, however, have shown that heterogeneity of regional ventilation and perfusion also exists within isogravitational planes, at least at higher spatial resolution.²⁴⁻²⁷ Some authors have even expressed the opinion that gravity is not the main determinant of regional blood flow distribution, based on high-resolution animal studies performed with microspheres.^{28,29} These differences of opinion have lead to debate.^{30,31} Still, gravity is regarded a major determinant of regional ventilation and blood flow. However, other factors, probably related to the anatomy of the pulmonary vascular and bronchial tree, are also important.³⁰⁻³⁴

Nominal units in which the regional perfusion and ventilation are presented vary and this complicates interpretation. When posture is changed, there is a shift of lung tissue to dependent zones in accordance to gravity.³² As a result, lower lung zones contain higher numbers of lung units. This contributes to an increase in regional blood flow and ventilation per unit lung volume. The change in blood flow per unit lung tissue (i.e. per alveolus) is less pronounced.^{21,28,29,32}

Some authors have found that the alveoli are more uniformly expanded at FRC in prone compared to supine position.^{18,35-37} This could be a result of the position of the heart, which in prone position does not exert the same pressure on the lung parenchyma as in supine position.

In addition to gravity and the morphological properties of vessels and bronchi, there are functional modifiers of regional ventilation and blood-flow, such as airway pressure and breathing phase.³⁸ The greatest vertical differences in blood flow per alveolus are seen at total lung capacity (TLC), whereas the greatest gradient in alveolar expansion is found at FRC.^{39,40} Hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction is a physiological phenomenon that influences regional pulmonary blood flow.⁴¹ As a response to alveolar and local arterial hypoxia, pulmonary arteries constrict and blood flow is redirected to alveoli with higher oxygen content. Hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction is important in diseased lungs as well as at high altitudes.

The balance between ventilation and perfusion

The foundation for an efficient pulmonary gas-exchange is the balance between ventilation and perfusion in the lungs. Under normal conditions there is a close relation between regional ventilation and perfusion.^{42,43} However, the match is not perfect. Even in normal subjects most studies have reported somewhat greater vertical gradients for perfusion than for ventilation, explained by the greater influence of gravity on blood.^{16,20,21,44,46} This results in lower ventilation to perfusion (V/P) ratios in lower parts of the lungs. The V/P ratio for the whole lungs varies in the range of 0.8 to 1.2.

Disturbance in the balance between pulmonary ventilation and perfusion leads to impaired gas exchange and, when severe, hypoxemia. Regional inequalities in V/P ratios can be found in a diversity of cardiopulmonary diseases, such as pulmonary embolism (PE), left heart failure (LHF) and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).

Cardiopulmonary diseases that affect pulmonary ventilation and perfusion

Pulmonary embolism

Acute PE is a severe and potentially deadly condition. PE has a historical mortality rate of approximately 30% if untreated.⁴⁷ In more recent studies, were most patients have obtained treatment, mortality rates of 8-15% have been reported.⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ Even if non fatal, PE leads to chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension in up to 4% of patients at 2-years follow up.^{51,52} PE is notorious for its unspecific symptoms and the exact incidence has therefore been difficult to establish. In the Western world the reported incidence of PE ranges from about 50 to 200 cases per 100,000 person years.⁵³⁻⁵⁶ PE is typically caused by migration of dislodged thrombi to the pulmonary circulation from the deep veins of the lower extremities. The occlusive emboli affect individual pulmonary arteries at the lobar, segmental or subsegmental levels.⁵⁷ Because each bronchopulmonary segment is supplied by a single end-artery, the blood flow peripheral to the embolus is either reduced or occluded in a segmental manner. As ventilation is usually preserved within lung segments affected by PE, this results in a segmentally elevated V/P ratio, or V/P mismatch. Ventilation of unperfused lung regions in PE will cause increased dead space.⁵⁸ Pulmonary blood flow is also redirected away from vessels obstructed by PE to open lung regions which

become over-perfused.⁵⁹ Acute PE affecting >30-50% of the pulmonary bed has hemodynamic consequences.⁶⁰ Large or multiple emboli might abruptly reduce the cross-sectional area of the pulmonary arterial bed. This can lead to an acute increase in the pulmonary vascular resistance to a level of afterload, which cannot be matched by the right ventricle.⁶¹ Right heart failure, hypotensive syncope, electromechanical dissociation and sudden death may occur.⁵⁷ An inverted pressure gradient between the right and left atrium can lead to right-to-left shunt through a patent foramen ovale, which may contribute to hypoxemia and result in paradoxical emboli to the systemic circulation.⁶²

There are both inherited and acquired risk factors associated with the development of venous tromboembolism.⁶³ The inherited risk factors include congenital hypercoagulable states such as deficiencies in antithrombin III, Protein C, Protein S etc. Well known acquired factors are cancer, major surgery, recent immobilization, flight travel, obesity and congestive heart or respiratory failure.⁶⁴ It is important, however, to recognize that 26-47% of cases with a first time diagnosis of venous tromboembolism are idiopathic.⁵⁵

Although PE can be asymptomatic, 90% of patients with PE present with symptoms of which dyspnea, tachypnea or chest pain (pleuritic or central) are the most common.^{65,66} Other symptoms and signs include cough, palpitations, syncope, oxygen desaturation, hypotension and ECG changes. All these clinical findings are non-specific and common in other diseases than PE. Although laboratory tests such as D-dimer (which measures plasma levels of a derivate of cross-linked fibrin) might sometimes be useful in low-risk patients, the diagnosis and exclusion of PE relies on medical imaging.^{61,67} V/P lung scintigraphy and CT pulmonary angiography (CTPA) are the most available and used examinations to diagnose PE today.⁶⁸

Ever since the study by Barritt and Jordan in 1960, it has been known that early diagnosis and treatment of PE are life saving.⁴⁷ The benefit of unfractionated or low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH) followed by oral anticoagulation with vitamin K antagonists are well defined.^{61,69,70} The optimal duration of therapy, however, remains a matter of controversy. It is still under debate whether therapy should be pursued for 3-months, 6-months, or even longer after a first incident of unprovoked PE.^{61,69-73} The length of oral anticoagulant therapy in an individual patient must balance the estimated risk of recurrence after treatment termination against the risk of iatrogenic bleeding while on anticoagulant therapy.⁶¹ The annual risk of major or fatal bleeding during oral anticoagulant treatment varies from 1.3 to 3.4%.^{74,75} The optimal method to assess the individual risk of PE recurrence is at present undefined. The risk of recurrence most likely depends both on whether the acute episode of PE was effectively treated and on the existence of continuous risk factors.⁷¹ Decisions of prolonged anticoagulant therapy, however, is most often based on the prevalence of continuous risk factors rather than on an objective evaluation of treatment efficiency.⁷⁵ This may potentially lead to both under- and overtreatment in individual patients. There could also be potential risk that the development of chronic PE stays undetected if no objective follow-up is performed.

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

The American Thoracic Society (ATS), the European Respiratory Society (ERS) and the Global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease (GOLD) all defines COPD as a preventable and treatable disease characterized by airflow obstruction that is not fully reversible.^{76,77} Chronic airflow limitation is caused by a combination of airway obstruction and parenchymal destruction (emphysema). The relative contributions of each component may vary from patient to patient. The airflow limitation is usually progressive.

COPD is a major cause of both morbidity and mortality globally.⁷⁸ COPD remains one of the few diseases that still continue to rise in its numbers in many countries, particularly among women.^{78,79} In the last 20 years the mortality in COPD has doubled among women. In 2001 COPD was the fifth leading cause of death worldwide and it has been estimated to become the third leading cause of death by the year 2020.^{80,81} The estimated prevalence of COPD in the population varies between studies from about 5 to 20%, depending on diagnostic criteria, survey and estimation methods.^{77,82-85} Prevalence values based on diagnosed disease and morbidity data underrate the burden since COPD is often not diagnosed until the person is symptomatic.⁸⁰ Because of the long preand subclinical phase of COPD, patients have time to adapt to their decreased pulmonary capacity. A majority of diagnosed COPD subjects therefore also underestimate the severity of their disease.⁸⁶

Cigarette smoking is the most important risk factor and cause 80-90% of COPD cases.⁸⁷ The fact that COPD is prevalent in both developed and developing countries is mainly a result of the tobacco epidemic.⁸⁰ In the late 1970's Fletcher et al prospectively showed that tobacco smoking accelerated the age related decline of forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV₁), and that smoking cessation halted this rapid decline.⁸⁷ It is therefore important to diagnose COPD early as smoking cessation is the only causal intervention for patients at all stages of COPD.⁸⁸ Furthermore smoking cessation reduces the risk of hospital admission and lowers the long-term all-cause mortality in COPD patients.^{89,90} The second most important risk factor of COPD is occupational exposure to chemicals and harmful dusts and fumes.⁹¹. However, the risk of developing COPD due

to occupational exposure is greater when the person is a smoker.^{77,91} Alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency is a well documented, but rare, hereditary genetic risk factor most frequently seen in persons of Northern European origin.⁹² It is associated with the accelerated development of panlobular emphysema. The increased risk to develop airway obstruction among smoking siblings of patients with COPD indicates that other genetic risk factors contribute to the susceptibility to develop COPD.⁹³.

Cigarette smoke, as well as other environmental irritants, cause inflammation in the lungs. In patients who develop COPD it is recognized that the inflammatory response is amplified beyond the normal protective level.^{77,94,95} Small airways and the surrounding alveoli are the key sites of inflammation. Chronic inflammation leads to structural changes such as fibrosis, airway wall thickening, airway narrowing (obstructive bronchiolitis), alveolar wall destruction (leading to emphysema) and also pulmonary vascular changes with endothelial dysfunction and hyperplasia of intima and vascular smooth muscle.⁹⁶

There is increasing recognition of COPD as a disease with significant systemic manifestations and comorbid conditions.^{97,98} Hence, the disease is not restricted to the airways, as airflow limitation and emphysema, but also presents with several extrapulmonary abnormalities.⁹⁸ It is still not known if these systemic manifestations are a result of systemic spill-over of the inflammatory events occurring in the lungs, or if the pulmonary manifestations of COPD rather are one form of expression of a systemic inflammatory state with multiple organ involvement. Common comorbidities that complicate the clinical manifestation of COPD are: left heart failure (LHF), arteriosclerotic disease, metabolic syndrome (diabetes, dyslipidemia and hypertension), cancer, pulmonary vascular disease and pulmonary embolism.⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁰ In patients with stable COPD the prevalence of previously unknown concomitant LHF has been reported to be about 20% and even higher in patients with exacerbation.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰³ The prevalence of PE among COPD patients hospitalized with exacerbation has been reported to be as high as 20-30% but is generally underdiagnosed.¹⁰⁴⁻¹⁰⁶ Differentiation between COPD, LHF and PE is hampered by similarities in symptoms and signs. A diagnostic method that could assess all three diseases would be of value.

In COPD, airway obstruction and emphysema lead to inhomogeneous regional ventilation. Ventilation could regionally be completely absent. Perfusion within the lung becomes abnormal as the lungs attempt to adapt blood flow to ventilation to preserve an efficient gas exchange. V/P defects in emphysema are often more or less matched due to the concurrent destruction of airways and blood vessels of the respiratory units. Matched defects has also been observed in airway obstruction, probably as a result of "protective" hypoxic vasoconstriction.²³ If hypoxic vasoconstriction is incomplete, regions with low V/P ratios, or reverse

mismatch, will appear. Vascular remodelling in COPD may result in regions with elevated V/P ratios. In later stages of COPD, may vascular wall changes and hypoxic vasoconstriction lead to the development of pulmonary hypertension.¹⁰⁷ The regional changes of ventilation and perfusion in different phenotypes of COPD are still not fully understood and needs to be studied further. Studies of V/P patterns might become important in the characterization of COPD.¹⁰⁸

The diagnosis of COPD should, in accordance to major guidelines, be considered in any patient with a history of exposure to risk factors, particularly in those with symptoms of cough, sputum production and/or dyspnea.^{76,77} The presence of non-reversible airflow limitation is assessed with spirometry and the diagnosis of COPD is defined as the finding of a post bronchodilator FEV₁/VC ratio of less than 0.7 (VC measured as either forced or slow vital capacity).^{76,77,109} The fix ratio is easy to use but has drawbacks as FEV₁/VC also declines with normal aging. This leads to the overestimation of the ventilatory defect in older people, as well as a risk of underestimation in younger persons. Some authors have instead advocated the use of the lower limit of normal (LLN) values to diagnose COPD, in which the lower 5% of the population is regarded as abnormal.^{109,110} However, the LLN method depends on the reference value that is used, and this varies.¹¹⁰ In the Swedish national guidelines, persons more than 65 years old must instead have a FEV₁/VC ratio of <0.65 to be diagnosed with COPD.¹¹¹

The severity staging of COPD is assessed with FEV_1 alone and commonly classified as mild, moderate, severe or very severe based on specific FEV_1 values in percent of predicted (% FEV_1) (e.g. 80, 50 and 30 % FEV_1). One problem with FEV_1 is that it is a rather insensitive method to detect airway changes in COPD as these mainly occur in small airways. Furthermore, emphysema and other lung disease can be present although FEV_1 is within normal limits.^{112,113} The statement that only 15-20% of smokers develop COPD is therefore misleading and studies show that the prevalence of emphysema among long term smokers could be about 2-3 times as high.^{112,113} Reversely, in a study by Gelb et al., 35 out of 81 patients with severe fixed airflow obstruction (% FEV_1 <50%) had no or only trivial emphysema.¹¹⁴ Spirometric classification is a predictor of morbidity and mortality when applied to COPD populations, but not in individual patients.^{76,78} FEV₁ measures the degree of airflow limitation but gives no information on the underlying pathophysiology. It is therefore accepted that spirometry alone cannot explain the complex clinical consequences of COPD.

High resolution CT (HRCT) can be used to assess the extent, type and localisation of emphysema and also the presence of airway wall thickening in COPD.¹¹⁵ In this way HRCT can provide morphological information, however, it gives no functional evaluation. Several studies have reported that the correlation between airflow limitation (measured with FEV₁) and the degree of emphysema

or small airway disease (as measured with HRCT) is poor or absent.^{114,116} HRCT is today only recommended if the COPD diagnosis is in doubt or if lung volume-reduction surgery is considered.^{76,77}

The degree of functional impairment, dyspnea and symptoms can be used to predict prognosis and future mortality risk.^{117,118} This can be assessed with different questionnaires such as the modified medical research council questionnaire (MRC) regarding the effect of breathlessness on daily activities and the clinical COPD questionnaire (CCQ) regarding symptoms and functional state.^{117,119} Yet, these scales correlate poorly or not at all with spirometric measures of airflow limitation.^{117,118,120} When combining the information of body-mass index, degree of obstruction (FEV₁), dyspnea and exercise capacity (6-min walk test) this could better predict mortality in COPD patients than lung function alone.¹²¹

Hence, COPD is a heterogeneous condition with much systemic comorbidity. Better diagnostic tools to understand and categorize the different phenotypes of COPD are requested.⁷⁸

Left heart failure

Left heart failure is a complex clinical syndrome that can follow upon any cardiac disorder that affects the ability of the left ventricle to function as a pump. In LHF the left ventricle is unable to meet the functional demands of the body. However, LHF is not the same thing as left ventricular dysfunction. LHF is a clinical diagnosis that needs the presence of symptoms, typically dyspnea and fatigue, and signs of pulmonary fluid retention in combination with some objective evidence that these findings are the consequence of a functional or structural abnormality of the heart.¹²² Myocardial pathology is the most common reason for LHF. Coronary heart disease is in turn the most common cause of myocardial disease, being the initiating factor in about 2/3 of patients with systolic LHF. Cardiomyopathies, valvular disease, hypertension, tachyarrhythmias, viral infections, alcohol abuse and congenital heart disease are examples of other initiating causes.¹²² About two percent of the population in developed countries have heart failure.^{122,123} The average age at diagnosis is 76 years.^{122,124} The prevalence of LHF is rising because of the aging of the population and the effective treatment of patients suffering from coronary events. Heart failure has a poor prognosis with a mortality rate similar to that of many malignancies.^{124,125} However, in Sweden, as well as in other countries, modern heart failure therapy has shown to decrease both morbidity and mortality from LHF.¹²⁶ Sometimes even causal treatment can be given. Early detection of LHF is therefore important.

LHF is often separated into systolic or diastolic heart failure depending

on whether the left ventricle has impaired ability to eject or fill with blood.¹²⁷ Patients with diastolic LHF have symptoms and/or signs of LHF but a preserved ejection fraction (EF).¹²⁸ The distinction between systolic and diastolic heart failure is somewhat arbitrary and many patients with LHF have evidence of both systolic and diastolic dysfunction.¹²²

Regional hypoperfusion rather than hypoventilation characterize the pulmonary gas exchange in LHF.¹²⁹ Already in the 1960s Friedman and Braunwald, West and others showed that patients with mitral valve disease demonstrated an inversion, or "cephalization" of the normal dependent distribution of blood flow.^{130,131} In their studies, redistribution of blood to upper lung zones correlated with an elevated pulmonary venous pressure. The inverted distribution of blood flow has also been demonstrated in patients after myocardial infarction and in patients with other causes of LHE.^{132,133} To explain the inverted blood flow distribution in LHF many theories have been suggested, but there is still no consensus. Ventilation is not affected to the same degree as perfusion. This results in an increased dead space in pulmonary congestion. In patients with decompensated LHF, airway obstruction caused by oedema and airway hyperresponsiveness is common. Oedema and alveolar flooding can also hinder the diffusion of gases over the alveolar-capillary membrane.

Although largely a clinical diagnosis, symptoms of LHF overlap with those described for PE and COPD. In patients with the most common risk factor, coronary disease, dyspnea only had a positive predictive value of about 25% for systolic LHF.¹²⁴ It has also been shown that clinicians frequently disagree in the recognition of physical signs of heart failure, and that these signs have an unpredictable relationship with Chest X-ray (CXR) and measurement of left ventricular performance.¹³⁴

It is more common with COPD among patients with heart failure than the general population. The prevalence of COPD in patients with heart failure has recently been reviewed and varies from 9 to 41% in European cohorts, and from 11 to 52% in North American patients.¹³⁵ The review summarises the findings of 43 studies. The risk of venous thromboembolic disease, including PE, is also elevated in LHF. Approximately 15% of patients with LHF, who have symptoms at rest or on less-than-ordinary exertion according to New York Heart Association classification (stage III and IV), develop venous thromboembolism.⁶⁴

Diagnosis of heart failure requires objective evidence of underlying cardiac dysfunction. In general, a diagnosis of LHF will therefore need an examination with echocardiography. Echocardiography is a cornerstone in the diagnosis of heart failure and provides essential information regarding the aetiology of LHF and can determine whether structural or functional abnormalities of myocardium, heart valves or pericardium are present. Echocardiography can give a numerical estimate of EF, which often is used to categorise patients into systolic or diastolic heart failure.^{122,128} EF is strongly dependent on volumes, heart rate, preload and afterload and is therefore not a direct index of contractility.¹²² Hemodynamic data such as left atrial pressure, pulmonary artery pressure and left ventricular filling patterns can noninvasively be estimated through Doppler echocardiography.¹²³ Nevertheless, abnormalities in any of these parameters can be present in the absence of LHF. An entirety normal echographic examination argues against clinical LHF.

B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and the N-terminal fragment of pro-BNP (NT-proBNP) are synthesized and released from the heart as a response to increased myocardial wall stress. Plasma level of BNP has been used as a tool in the diagnosis of heart failure.¹³⁶ It is associated with reduced EF, acute myocardial infarction, coronary ischemia and ventricular hypertrophy, but also with other conditions such as infection, renal dysfunction and advanced age.¹²² Elevated BNP levels can also be found in PE and COPD.¹²³ Hence, an elevated plasma level of BNP is unspecific but could trigger the consideration of LHF in patients when diagnosis is unknown. In combination with other findings it lends weight to a suspected diagnosis of LHF.¹³⁷ A normal level of BNP, in an untreated patient makes LHF an unlikely cause of symptoms.¹²²

CXR is today recommended as an essential tool in the diagnostic work-up of LHF. According to guidelines it permits the assessment of pulmonary congestion, pleural fluid accumulation and cardiomegaly.^{122,123} Therefore, CXR is commonly used for estimating severity of pulmonary congestion and titrating therapy of chronic congestive heart failure. The sensitivity of CXR for pulmonary congestion, however, is low.^{138,139} Even in patients with known elevated pulmonary venous pressure and known pulmonary congestion, CXR can be normal in as many as 50%-60% of cases.^{140,141} The interobserver variability is high when assessing heart failure with CXR.¹⁴² Radiological signs of LHF can also be obscured by the simultaneous presence of COPD. Pulmonary congestion can therefore stay undetected.

Objective imaging methods in the diagnosis of PE and cardiopulmonary disease

Lung scintigraphy

Lung scintigraphy gives a physiologic map that evaluates the primary functions of the lungs.¹⁴³ It was the first method that made it possible to attain spatial 2-dimensional information of ventilaion and perfusion in vivo.^{14,40,144} In lung scintigraphy, tracers which either are radioactive by themselves or labelled with a radioactive compound, are used to localize and quantify the functional distribution of ventilation and perfusion in the lungs. Photons emitted from the radiotracers are then registered outside the body by a gamma-camera. The data from the gamma-camera is then used to reconstruct an image of the regional ventilation and perfusion.

Ventilation imaging

For ventilation imaging there are several alternatives. These include inert gases such as ¹³³Xenon (¹³³Xe) and ^{81m}Krypton (^{81m}Kr), or radiolabelled aerosols such as ^{99m}Technetium (^{99m}Tc)-diethylene triamine pentaacetic acid (DTPA), and ^{99m}Tc-labeled Technegas.¹⁴⁵

Inert gases

¹³³Xe has historically been the agent used for ventilation studies.¹⁴ The half-life of ¹³³Xe is relatively long (5.3 days). The ¹³³Xe ventilation studies have some shortcomings including poor spatial resolution as a result of the low photon energy (81 keV) and the fact that only a few projections, often only posterior, can be performed with a single dose.¹⁴⁶ ¹³³Xe that is not cleared from the lungs through expiration is cleared to the pulmonary circulation and is then recirculated, and this can introduce errors.¹⁴⁷ All this together, makes ¹³³Xe less than ideal as an agent to image ventilation and impairs its ability to be used for SPECT imaging.¹⁴⁸ The use of ¹³³Xe is no longer recommended according to the guidelines of the European Association of Nuclear Medicine.⁵⁷ ¹³³Xe is still commonly used for ventilation studies in the United States.¹⁴⁹

 $^{81\rm m}\rm Kr$ has the ideal gamma-energy of 193 keV and is produced on-site from a Rubidium generator. The generator is expensive and requires to be replaced daily which leads to limited use. 57 As the gamma-energy of $^{81\rm m}\rm Kr$ is different from that

of ^{99m}Tc, ventilation and perfusion imaging can be performed simultaneously. ^{81m}Kr has a short half-life of 13 s. As a result, ^{81m}Kr disappears faster from the alveoli by decay than by expiration, and therefore needs to be administered continuously during image acquisition.¹⁴⁸ At steady-state, ^{81m}Kr concentration is proportional to regional ventilation and ^{81m}Kr is therefore by many regarded as the "gold standard" for ventilation studies.¹⁴⁵ The match between regional concentration of ^{81m}Kr and regional ventilation is not perfect, however, in areas with very high or low alveolar ventilation in relation to volume.¹⁵⁰

Aerosols

Given the limitations of the inert gases, ^{99m}Tc-labeled particle aerosols such as ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Technegas have become widely used due to their lower cost, greater availability and high image quality.⁶⁸

A radioaerosol consists of radioactive particles suspended in gas. The depth of aerosol delivery and deposition in the lungs depends on the aerodynamic properties of the particles (mainly their size), the breathing pattern and the anatomy of the airways.^{57,151,152} Ultrafine nanoparticles with a diameter of 0.02 µm has a deposition fraction of up to 50%, predominantly in the alveoli by diffusion.¹⁵³ The alveolar deposition fraction then decreases with increasing size up to a diameter of 0.45 µm. At this particle size aerosols are especially stable with low alveolar deposition as diffusion and gravitational sedimentation balance each other.¹⁵³ At larger diameters sedimentation dominates as the mechanism of deposition. Diffusional deposition occurs and contributes to deposition up to an inhaled particle size of approximately 1 µm.¹⁵⁴ Particles with a diameter of >1-2 µm will be deposited in conducting airways by inertial impaction since large particles are unable to follow the curved streamlines that the air follows when passing through bifurcations. As a result there will be a risk of accumulation of radioactive particles and "hot spot" formation. Particles with a diameter exceeding 5 µm will impact already in upper airways. Airway obstruction with turbulence may cause impaction even of smaller particles.

As aerosols contain particles of different sizes and somewhat different shapes, the mass median aerodynamic diameter (MMAD) is often used to characterize their properties. MMAD describes the aerodynamic diameter that divides the aerosol particles in half, based on the particles weight. A radio-aerosol should preferably have a MMAD of less than 1.2 μ m and the maximum particle size inhaled by the patient should be less than 2 μ m.^{57,147} The droplet size of liquid aerosols depends on the nebulizer that is used. The best liquid aerosol generators used today can produce an aerosol with a size distribution of 0.5-2 μ m.

^{99m}Tc-DTPA is the most commonly used liquid aerosol.¹⁵⁵ ^{99m}Tc has a physical half-life of 6.02 hrs and photopeak energy of 140 keV, which is ideal for gamma-camera imaging. Taplin proposed the use of 99mTc-DTPA instead of ¹³³Xe already in 1977.^{156 99m}Tc-DTPA is soluble in water and is cleared from the lungs to the blood by diffusion through the alveolar-capillary membrane.¹⁵⁷ The mean biological half-life is approximately 70 min in healthy non-smokers.¹⁵⁸ Clearance rate increases when alveolar epithelial integrity is compromised such as in alveolar inflammation (alveolitis) or in smokers.^{159,160} The variable biological half-life of ^{99m}Tc-DTPA may interfere with image quality in some patients. A ventilation study with 30 MBq of 99mTc-DTPA results in a low effective dose of 0.2 mSv to the patient.¹⁶¹ Because of the relatively larger inhaled particle size and the tendency for the hydrophilic particles to grow as a result of airway humidity, there may be problems with deposition in large airways, particularly in patients with COPD. For PE diagnosis in patients with normal ventilation, ^{99m}Tc-DTPA has been shown to have the same or better diagnostic properties as ^{81m}Kr and ¹³³Xe.^{146,162,163}

The use of 99mTc-Technegas for ventilation studies was first reported in 1986.¹⁶⁴ Technegas is an aerosol containing ultrafine ^{99m}Tc-labelled particles of solid graphite. The aerosol particles are generated by heating a graphite crucible loaded with ^{99m}Tc to 2550°C.¹⁶⁵ The process is performed in an atmosphere of pure Argon. This produces radioaerosol particles with a size range of 0.005 to 0.2 µm.¹⁶⁶ The small particle size makes penetration characteristics gas-like with less impaction in conducting airways.¹⁶⁶⁻¹⁶⁸ ^{99m}Tc-Technegas has therefore often been called a "pseudo-gas".¹⁶⁴ In contrast with gases, graphite particles adhere to the walls of the alveoli on inhalation.¹⁶⁴ A few breaths on the part of the patient are sufficient to deliver adequate activity to the lungs.¹⁴⁵ There is no clearance of 99mTc-Technegas from the lungs during the time it takes to acquire ventilation images and the biological half-life is 135 hrs. 99mTc-Technegas gives the same diagnostic information as ^{81m}Kr.^{147,169,170} The effective radiation dose from 30 MBq of ^{99m}Tc-Technegas is low (0.45 mSv).¹⁶¹ This would appear to make ^{99m}Tc-Technegas an ideal agent for ventilation scintigraphy and particularly tomographic imaging. ^{99m}Tc-Technegas is at present not approved for use in the United States.

Despite the common use of both $^{99m}\text{Tc-Technegas}$ and $^{99m}\text{Tc-DTPA},$ they have never been compared in a head-to-head study.

Perfusion imaging

^{99m}Tc-macro-aggregated albumin (MAA) is generally used to assess distribution of pulmonary perfusion.^{57,171} Imaging with ^{99m}Tc-MAA is based on the principle of capillary blockade through microembolization. MAA particles are prepared through heat denaturation of human serum albumin.¹⁷¹ The particles are then labelled with ^{99m}Tc. ¹¹¹Indium has also been used as a marker, but this is more expensive and not widely available.¹⁷² The ^{99m}Tc-MAA particles are irregularly shaped molecules where 95% of the particles are within a size range of 10-100 μm in commercial kits. No particles should be larger than 150 μm as they can obstruct larger arterioles. Because of their size range, ^{99m}Tc-MAA paricles lodge principally in precapillary arterioles but to some part also in capillaries.¹⁷¹ Typically, about 400,000 particles are injected, lading to a temporary and safe occlusion of less than 0.1% of the pulmonary capillaries. Patients with known pulmonary hypertension and right-to-left shunts should only be given 100,000-



Figure 1. The basic design of a gamma-camera.

200,000 particles. In children the dose should also be smaller and adjusted to weight. ^{99m}Tc-MAA leaves the lungs through breakdown into smaller particles that pass through the capillaries into the systemic circulation. ^{99m}Tc-MAA is injected slowly intravenously and travels to the right heart were venous blood is mixed. The particles then follow the pulmonary arterial blood-flow and are distributed peripherally in proportion to regional perfusion. The distribution of ^{99m}Tc-MAA will be reduced distal to occlusions in pulmonary arteries and the functional consequence of the occlusion can thereby be seen. When performing lungscintigraphy as one-day protocol using ^{99m}Tc first for ventilation and then for perfusion studies, the dose of the perfusion agent must drown the underlying ventilation signal.¹⁵⁵ A ventilation dose of about 30 MBq of ^{99m}Tc-aerosol will therefore require approximately 100-120 MBq of ^{99m}Tc-MAA, which will result in an effective dose of 1.1-1.3 mSv.^{161,173}

Gamma-cameras

The gamma-camera is the predominant imaging device in nuclear medicine and was first developed by Hal Anger in the late 1950s. A gamma-camera basically consists of a lead collimator, a crystal (commonly made of thallium-doped sodium iodide [NaI(Tl)]), an array of photomultiplier tubes (PMT), an energy discriminator and a position logic circuitry [Fig 1]. Only photons travelling perpendicular to the crystal surface will pass the apertures of the multi-hole collimator and contribute to the resulting image. Photons travelling in oblique axis to the apertures will hit the lead septa and will therefore not (in about 95% of cases) reach the crystal. Gamma-camera collimators are classified with respect to photon energy and resolution (inversely related to sensitivity). In ^{99m}Tc imaging low-energy (<200 keV) all purpose (LEAP) or high resolution collimators are used. In the crystal, i.e. scintillator, gamma-radiaton energy from absorbed photons is deposited and converted to visible light. The thickness of the crystal determines its spatial resolution and sensitivity (a thin crystal yields high spatial resolution; a thick crystal yields high sensitivity). Behind the crystal is a twodimensional arrangement of PMTs. The light emitted from the crystal is spread out among the PMTs and amplified to an output signal that is proportional to the incoming light and thereby also to the incident radiation. The position logic circuitry calculates and determines the exact location of a scintillation within the crystal. Scintillations with energy not typical for the used isotope, falls outside the predefined energy window and can thereby be sorted out. The information from the remaining scintillations can then be used to produce images.

Planar lung scintigraphy

Evaluation of ventilation and perfusion with lung scintigraphy was introduced in the 1960s, and was soon accepted in the detection of perfusion defects in PE.¹⁷⁴ Lung scintigraphy visualizes the V/P balance in healthy individuals and the V/P abnormalities in cardiopulmonary disease. When disease causes an equal regional deficiency in both V and P the defect is "matched". When a defect is only observed in perfusion images it is conventionally denoted "mismatched".¹⁷⁵Gamma-camera images basically represent a two-dimensional (or planar) view of the three-dimensional (3-D) distribution of the radionucleide within the body. Hence, to localize patophysiological processes within the body, projections in various angles must be obtained. In planar lung scintigraphy four to eight projections are commonly used. Two-dimensional lung imaging has some inherent limitations:¹⁴⁹

- The overlap of anatomical segments complicates accurate localization of defects.
- Regions with normal V or P can "shine-through" regions with lower function and thereby result in an underestimation of V or P loss.
- Difficulties in visualizing all the segments of the lungs.

All these limitations can have an undesirable effect on diagnostic accuracy.¹⁴⁹ Nevertheless, planar lung scintigraphy was for many years the routine clinical procedure in the diagnosis of PE [Fig 2A]. Segmental perfusion defects with preserved ventilation are the key finding in the diagnosis of acute PE.⁵⁷ It was widely accepted that a normal lung perfusion pattern nearly excluded PE.^{50,57} The reputation of planar lung scintigraphy was hampered in the 1990s after the prospective investigation on pulmonary embolism diagnosis study (PIOPED).⁵⁰ In PIOPED, a probabilistic reporting scheme was used to classify all V/P scans, that were not completely normal, as low, intermediate or high probability of PE.⁵⁰ ¹³³Xe vas used for ventilation imaging and commonly only in posterior projection. As 73% of the studies were regarded as nondiagnostic (low or intermediate probability) the usefulness of scintigraphy was questioned.^{50,176} No aerosol ventilation studies were included in any of the reports critical of the accuracy of lung scintigraphy. Probabilistic reporting has been widespread following PIOPED.



Figure 2. Lung scintigraphy in a patient with pulmonary embolism. (A) In planar images, a perfusion defect of segmental character (arrows) in the basal part of the right lung. Ventilation is preserved. (B) In tomographic images (V/P SPECT), it is found that the defect actually consists of two separate perfusion defects (black arrows). Moreover, subsegmental mismatched perfusion defects are found within upper parts of the right lung (open arrows).

(Ant.=anterior, LPO=left posterior oblique, P=perfusion, post.=posterior, qV/P=ventilation/perfusion quotient, RPO=right posterior oblique, V=ventilation.) *Modified with permission from M. Bajc.*

CTPA in the diagnosis of pulmonary embolism

About the same time as PIOPED, CTPA was introduced in the diagnosis of PE. In some studies CTPA showed a higher specificity compared to planar lung scintigraphy.^{177,178} CTPA was soon widespread and generally used. The popularity increased based on arguments that CT also could detect differential
diagnoses when signs of PE were absent. PIOPED II, that studied the assessment of PE with multidetector CTPA, showed that CTPA had a high sensitivity and a high positive predictive value (PPV) for central PE. However, the PPV of CTPA was only 68% for segmental and 25% for subsegmental PE.¹⁷⁸ The accuracy fell further if there were discrepancy between clinical probability and CTPA findings.¹⁷⁹ The 17% false negative rate of multidetector CTPA indicated the need for additional methods to rule out PE.¹⁸⁰ In a recent review of pooled data the sensitivity of spiral CTPA was 83%, when patients with contraindications for CT or poor image quality were excluded.¹⁸¹ There are safety concerns related to the intravenous contrast.¹⁸² In PIOPED II, 24% of the patients had one or more contraindications to CTPA and more than 45% of the patients in the study were not eligible to be examined with CTPA due to health reasons.¹⁸³ In a recent study by Gutte et al 96 out of 196 consecutive patients (49%) had to be excluded due to contraindications to CTPA.¹⁸⁴ Another negative aspect of CTPA is the high radiation exposure of the patient. In the United States, CT scans account for 15% of studies but more than one-half of the collective radiation dose.¹⁸⁵ The average annual effective dose per-capita from medical radiation has approximately doubled in the last 10-15 years.¹⁸⁶ In PE diagnosis, effective doses of 8-20 mSv have generally been reported by the use of 16-array or greater CT scanners.¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁸⁹ CTPA delivers a high radiation dose to breast and lungs as these organs are directly in the path of the radiation beam.¹⁸⁹ The radiation dose to the breast has been estimated to range from 20-70 mSv with current protocols.^{187,188,190} One CTPA examination corresponds to the breast dose from 100-400 CXR.¹⁸⁹ Some authors have worked on ways to lower the radiation dose from CTPA but this has not been generally implemented.^{187,191} The American College of Radiology has recommended caution in the use of CTPA in women of reproductive age because radiation levels exceed those shown to increase cancer risk.¹⁹² As a comparison, the radiation dose to the breast from modern lung scintigraphy with ^{99m}Tc-aerosol+^{99m}Tc MAA is 0.8 mSv.¹⁶¹

Tomographic lung scintigraphy

The progress in nuclear medicine has lead to the development of tomographic 3-D techniques to assess the patients. Single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) is the tomographic method based on the emitted single photons from radiopharmaceuticals such as some of those previously mentioned. If multiple scintigraphic images are acquired from a multitude of angles around a patient, these images may be used to computationally reconstruct transverse images. In V/P SPECT is the number of projections typically 120

with 3° angular steps between them, thereby covering 360°. 57,145,173,193,194 Because the reconstructed transverse emission images are contiguous, with no gap between them, the reconstructed 3-D array of volume elements (voxels) can be reorganized in any angle yielding coronal, sagittal, transverse or even oblique images.¹⁹⁵ Hence, SPECT compares to planar gamma-camera imaging as CT compares to conventional X-ray imaging. The main advantage with SPECT lies in its improved image contrast achieved by eliminating counts from activity in tissue outside the section of interest.¹⁹⁵ SPECT also results in an improved spatial resolution allowing smaller processes to be imaged.¹⁹⁶ SPECT imaging has because of its ability to image in 3-D since long been standard in many areas of radionucleide imaging, such as in the assessment of ischemic heart disease and degenerative brain disorders, were it has been shown to be superior to planar imaging.⁶⁸ SPECT studies of the lungs were first introduced in canine studies in the early 1980s and its probable advantages in the diagnosis of PE was advocated already then.¹⁹⁷⁻¹⁹⁹ SPECT assumes a "static" distribution of radiotracer during the time of image acquisition and V/P SPECT is therefore best performed with a ^{99m}Tc-aerosol in combination with ^{99m}Tc-MAA.^{57,67,68 81m}Kr can also be used but needs continuous administration. A multihead gamma-camera is required to perform V/P SPECT in an efficient fashion. Both the administration of ventilation and perfusion radiotracers and imaging is performed in the supine position. Total acquisition time for a V/P SPECT examination is approximately 20 min which is well tolerated by almost all patients.^{57,67,111,173} V/P SPECT has no contraindications and can be performed in 99% of patients.^{67,200}

Primary diagnosis of PE is the main indication for lung scintigraphy and several studies have therefore compared V/P SPECT with planar imaging in this diagnosis [Fig 2B]. In animal studies it was shown that the tomographic technique improved the specificity and accuracy of lung scintigraphy.^{194,199} The first small study comparing V/P SPECT with planar lung scintigraphy in humans was published in 1993.²⁰¹ It was concluded that V/P SPECT made it possible to visualize subsegmental defects not visible on planar images and also that it had the ability to more accurately localize defects. In a study of 985 patients with suspected PE it was found that V/P SPECT resulted in a specificity of 92% compared to 52% in PIOPED.²⁰² The number of indeterminate studies was 4%. A rate of nondiagnostic examinations <5% has been published by many authors since then, and this is a significant observation given the criticism of PIOPED.^{67,200,203-205} In a study by Lemb et al. following 991 patients, V/ P SPECT had a sensitivity of 96% and a specificity of 97% in the diagnosis of PE.²⁰⁴ Reinartz et al. were also using ^{99m}Tc-Technegas and found that V/P SPECT had a sensitivity of 97% and a specificity of 92% in 83 patients that were also examined with CTPA. In this study the accuracy of V/P SPECT was similar

to that of CTPA (94% vs. 93%), with a somewhat higher sensitivity for PE with V/P SPECT.²⁰⁶ Studies comparing V/P SPECT with planar imaging using ^{81m}Kr as the ventilation agent have been performed by Collart et al and Gutte et al including in total 102 patients with suspected PE.^{207,208} Collart et al. used planar^{81m}Kr images and combined these with tomographic and planar perfusion images. They found that the specificity was 96% for SPECT compared to 78% for planar imaging while the sensitivity was similar (80%).²⁰⁷ In the study by Gutte et al.^{81m}Kr-ventilation studies were tomographic. V/P SPECT was found to have a sensitivity of 100% and a specificity of 87% compared to 64% and 72% when using planar 2-D imaging.²⁰⁸ In this study, 8% of the examinations were reported as uninterpretable due to poor technical quality. V/P SPECT can also be used to generate V/P quotient images to facilitate the diagnosis of PE.^{173,175} By authors using V/P SPECT, a binary reporting system is implemented and this is also recommended in the guidelines of the European Association of Nuclear Medicine.^{67,149,205,209} Hence, there are many studies that have demonstrated the advantage of 3-D V/P SPECT over 2-D planar lung scintigraphy in the primary diagnosis of PE, especially when radioaerosols are used. Globally, the majority of lung scintigraphic examinations are nevertheless still performed using the planar technique.⁶⁸ Although V/P SPECT has improved the diagnostic accuracy regarding PE it has not been evaluated for PE follow-up.

V/P SPECT has mostly been used in clinical practice for the investigation of suspected PE. The clinical potential of V/P SPECT for investigation of 3-D ventilation/perfusion changes in other cardiopulmonary diseases such as COPD and LHF has been less explored.¹⁰⁸ V/P SPECT might be useful both in the diagnosis and characterization of COPD and LHF. Functional disturbances in regional ventilation and perfusion have previously been described for both conditions.^{210,211} V/P SPECT has in several studies been shown more sensitive than HRCT in detecting early changes of alveolar destruction.²¹²⁻²¹⁴

Aims

The general aim of this thesis was to evaluate the role of V/P SPECT in the follow-up of patients with PE and in the diagnosis of LHF and COPD

The specific aims for each paper were:

- I. To investigate if LHF could be diagnosed using V/P SPECT, and to develop and evaluate objective parameters in terms of perfusion gradients in the diagnosis of LHF.
- II. To systematically investigate differences between ventilation studies performed with ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Technegas in a head-to-head study.
- III. To investigate, in patients with COPD, how lung function imaging and obstructive disease grading performed with V/P SPECT correlate to symptoms, spirometric lung function and degree of emphysema.
- IV. To quantitatively follow-up the history of treated PE using V/ P SPECT. This could prove helpful in defining an anticoagulant treatment regime for individual patients.

Materials and methods

Study populations

All studies were approved by local ethical review board committees.

Study I was a retrospective study that included 247 consecutive patients examined with V/P SPECT under a two-month period due to clinically suspected PE. Typical symptoms were chest pain, dyspnea, tachycardia, syncope, sudden unexplained tiredness, atrial fibrillation, and confusion. The mean age of the patients was 63 years, 153 of the patients were women and 97 of the patients were outpatients. Patients examined for other indications than suspected PE were not included in the study.

In study II, sixty-five patients were included. Thirty-five of the patients were referred for V/P SPECT examination to evaluate clinically suspected PE (n=29), to evaluate alveolitis (n=3), or to evaluate lung function before surgery or after transplantation (n=3). Their mean age was 57 years, 51% were women, and 5 had known obstructive lung disease. Two of these 35 patients were later excluded because data had not been properly stored for reevaluation. In addition, 30 outpatients with known COPD (mean age 65 years; 63% women) were consecutively recruited from the Department of Respiratory Medicine and Allergology. They had moderate to very severe COPD according to GOLD. COPD classification was performed at the outpatient clinic before the start of the study. The COPD patients were clinically stable and had been free from exacerbation for at least 6 weeks. All patients were under optimized pharmacological treatment.

The COPD patients included in study II were also utilized in study III.

Study IV was a prospective study that comprised of consecutive patients with clinically suspected PE, who were primarily examined with V/P SPECT at the University Hospital of Sarajevo. 83 patients (mean age 54 years, 40% women) were examined with V/P SPECT. All were examined within 12 hours from onset of symptoms. Patients with a negative V/P SPECT (48 out of 83) were left untreated regarding PE and were followed up by telephone interviews

approximately three months after the V/P SPECT examination. V/P SPECT identified PE in 35 patients (87% out-patients), 23 out of these 35 patients were able to take part in the study. As the other 12 patients lived far away from Sarajevo, for logistical reasons they were not included in the study. They were, however, all clinically followed-up during anticoagulant treatment. Clinical follow up was performed by experienced pulmonologists.

V/P SPECT acquisition

In all studies, V/P SPECT was performed as 1-day protocol according to the guidelines of the European Association of Nuclear Medicine, using the protocol of Palmer et al. and Bajc et al.^{57,67,173,196} A large field-of-view gamma-camera equipped with a LEAP collimator was used. Acquisition was performed in a 64 x 64 matrix, zoomed to a pixel size of 6.8 mm with 128 projections over 360°. Sixty-four steps, each of 10 s. duration, were used for the ventilation study, and 64 steps of 5 s. duration were used for the perfusion study.

Inhalation of ^{99m}Tc-DTPA (Studies I and II) or ^{99m}Tc-Technegas (Studies I, II, III and IV) was performed in the supine position. Ventilation tomography was then performed. Thereafter, in maintained supine position, ^{99m}Tc-MAA was slowly injected intravenously. Then, perfusion tomography followed. Transversal V/P images were reconstructed using ordered-subsets expectation maximization with 8 subsets and 2 iterations. To account for remains of aerosol in the perfusion study, ventilation counts were subtracted from the perfusion images after ventilation activity had been adjusted for the time difference between acquisitions. In study II, all patients were reexamined for ventilation. In study IV, the included patients were reexamined with V/P SPECT at two weeks, three months and six months after PE diagnosis.

All V/P SPECT examinations performed at the department of Clinical Physiology, Lund, fulfilled the requirements in ISO/IEC 17025.

Preparation and administration of radiotracers

^{99m}Tc-DTPA was prepared using a commercial kit (TechneScan DTPA; Mallinckrodt Medical BV). The ^{99m}Tc-DTPA aerosol was generated and inhaled using an UltraVent nebulizer (Mallinckrodt Medical BV) or a SmartVent aerosol generator system (Diagnostic Imaging Ltd.). The MMAD of the delivered particles from those nebulizers was 1.7 mm or less. Technegas was delivered from the Technegas generator according to the manufacturer's instructions. The inhaled Technegas particles are all of submicron size.¹⁶⁶ Inhalation of both ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Technegas was performed in supine position and the dose was 30 MBq. After ^{99m}Tc-MAA was prepared (Technescan LyoMaa kit; Mallinckrodt Medical BV) it was administered intravenously in a dose of 100-120 MBq.

Spirometry, lung volumes and diffusion capacity for carbon-monoxide

In study III, lung function evaluation including FEV_1 , vital capacity (VC), total lung capacity (TLC), residual volume (RV), functional residual capacity (FRC) and diffusion capacity for carbon monoxide (D_LCO) were assessed using a body plethysmograph (MasterScreen Body/Diffusion; Viasys Healthcare). Lung function evaluation was quality controlled according to the American Thoracic Society guidelines and performed in accordance with Swedish Board for Accreditation and Conformity Assessment (SWEDAC) accreditation, fulfilling the requirements in ISO/IEC 17025.²¹⁵

HRCT

In study III, 28 of the 30 patients with COPD were examined with HRCT using a MDCT scanner. Imaging was performed in deep-inspiratory breath hold with the patients in supine position. Transaxial images, 1 mm thick, were reconstructed with the lung algorithm. HRCT images were then visually assessed by an experienced chest radiologist, blinded to V/P SPECT results. The review was performed with focus on emphysema type, its location and extent. The degree of emphysema was scored as a percentage of the total lung volume. Other findings such as bronchiectasis, thickening of bronchial wall and mucus plugs were also identified but not further analyzed.

Symptoms, the effect of breathlessness and functional state in COPD patients

Patients with COPD in study III were evaluated regarding symptoms, dyspnea and functional state with the Medical Research Council (MRC) questionnaire and the clinical COPD questionnaire (CCQ). The MRC dyspnea scale was developed in the 1950s and modified in the 1990s.^{117,216} MRC is used to grade the effect of breathlessness on daily activities and it has been related to morbidity and mortality in populations with obstructive lung disease.^{117,118}

Degree of breathlessness related to activities according to MRC dyspnea scale: $^{\rm 216}$

- 1. Not troubled by breathlessness except on strenuous exercise
- 2. Short of breath when hurrying or walking up a slight hill
- 3. Walks slower than contemporaries on level ground because of breathlessness, or has to stop for breath when walking at own pace
- 4. Stops for breath after walking about 100m or after a few minutes on level ground
- 5. Too breathless to leave the house, or breathless when dressing or undressing

The CCQ has been developed as a simple clinical tool to identify not only the clinical status of the airways but also activity limitation and emotional dysfunction in patients with COPD.¹¹⁹ CCQ is a 10 items self-administered questionnaire covering symptoms, functional and mental state. Patients are instructed to recall their experiences during the previous week and respond to each question using a 7-point scale witch ranges from 0 = asymptomatic/no limitation to 6 = extremely symptomatic/totally limited. The total sum is then divided by the number of questions so that CCQ varies from very good (0) to extremely poor disease control (6). CCQ was used in study III with permission from the developers.

Perfusion gradients in LHF

In study I, an algorithm for calculation of objective perfusion gradients was developed and applied on the tomographic lung perfusion data. The analysis was made from transversal slices, delineated automatically at a lower count threshold set to 20% of the 90:th volumetric percentile of the filtered slice volume.¹⁷³ The



Figure 3. Mathematical phantom used to evaluate the perfusion gradient algorithm. (A) Sample phantom image generated with predefined gradients and added edge effects. (B) Sample phantom as seen in (A), but with random gross structures added.

medial part of each lung was then removed in order to exclude central airways and large vessels. This was accomplished by indenting the lung contour by an amount prescribed by an elliptical formula, the size of which was proportional to the total size of the lung. Voxels in the lung periphery were then excluded to avoid partial volume effects and artefacts due to heart motion and breathing. Accordingly, in each patient, a series of 3-D linear regressions were performed to estimate an optimum distance to retreat from the lung periphery. The principle applied here was that the coefficient of variance for the 3-D fit (SD/number of fitted voxels) is large when the data are in fact non-linear, as at the lung periphery. Peripheral voxels were thus removed until the coefficient of variance for the 3-D perfusion gradient no longer decreased. This resulted in a retreat from the lung contour by 1-3 pixels (described as "approximately 1 cm" in paper I). Perfusion gradients could then be calculated in the 3-D volume. In study I, perfusion gradients were calculated in body-oriented orthogonal planes (x, y, z). Before application to patient data, these procedures were validated using a mathematical phantom with gradients between -4 and +4 %/cm and with lung contours derived from real lungs. Known gradients as well as edge effects, and later also random gross structures, were added to the phantom to resemble partial volume effects and different perfusion patterns [Fig 3]. Perfusion gradients were then extracted in the body-oriented orthogonal directions using the described procedure and these gradients were then compared to the known values.

Qualitative assessment of V/P SPECT images

In study I, V/P SPECT images were visually interpreted by two experienced physicians in consensus that were blinded to clinical information. Findings were regarded as normal when an even regional distribution of ventilation and perfusion with dorsal predominance was seen. PE was diagnosed when a segmental or subsegmental V/P mismatch (perfusion defect with preserved ventilation) of at least two subsegments or one segment was found.^{145,209} In agreement with previous observations, congestive LHF was regarded as present when a general redistribution of perfusion to upper and ventral lung zones was seen.^{131-133,210,217} The redistribution should not cause perfusion defects of segmental character. However, as the redistribution of ventilation is less prominent, mismatch of non-segmental character is often observed. Possible presence of V/P patterns indicative of COPD, pneumonia or ancillary were not further analyzed in this study. These diagnoses were grouped as "others".

In study II and III, all V/P SPECT images were independently reviewed by two physicians that were unaware of clinical information, and in study II also of what type of 99mTc-aerosol that had been used. All V/P SPECT images were available to the physicians. Images were reviewed according to a predefined standardized scoring system. A training session was held with the physicians before the study began to achieve consistency of scoring. Ventilation images were assessed and graded using 3 qualitative parameters: unevenness of aerosol distribution, central hot-spots (i.e., deposition of aerosol in major and intermediate conductive airways), and peripheral hot-spots (i.e., focal deposition of aerosol in distal airways). Each of these parameters was scored from 0 (none or normal) to 10 (very high). Thereafter, ventilation and perfusion images were assessed together. The extent of matched (V = P), mismatched (P < V) and reverse mismatched (V < P) defects were expressed as a percentage of the total lung volume. The sum of these was used to estimate the extent of total reduction in lung function. Scintigraphic signs of obstructive disease were graded, in accordance with other terminology, as absent (=0), mild (=1: affecting < 20% of the total lung function), moderate (=2: affecting 20%-50% of the total lung function), or severe (=3: affecting > 50% of the total lung function). V/P SPECT images were finally reviewed according to the criteria described for study I, assessing the presence of PE and LHF. If PE was present, the extent of lung perfusion reduction was scored as a percentage of the total lung volume.

In study IV, V/P SPECT images were reviewed by two physicians who were blinded as to whether they reviewed the acute examination, the 2-week, the 3-month or the 6-month follow-up. Segmental ventilation and perfusion defects were quantified in terms of "RoVent" (Reduction of Ventilation) and "RoPer" (Reduction of Perfusion) points, which has been described in previous studies.^{196,218} Reduced function in a segment or a complete loss of ventilation or perfusion in a subsegment was attributed one RoVent or RoPer point. When function was completely lost within a segment this was attributed two points. The lungs were considered to have 18 segments in total. The theoretical maximum score is hence 36 points. Segmental or subsegmental regions with loss of perfusion but preserved ventilation were scored as mismatch points. PE was diagnosed when more than one subsegmental or segmental region of mismatch were found, i.e. at least two mismatch points were required. Mismatch points were used to quantify the extent of PE perfusion defects.

Statistical analysis

All continuous data are expressed as mean ± standard deviation unless otherwise is specified. The null hypothesis was rejected when *P* was less than 0.05 throughout the studies. In study I, Mann-Whitney U test was used to compare differences in perfusion gradients. In study II, paired Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to compare the differences between ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Techengas variables. Differences between the two aerosols were also illustrated in Bland-Altman plots.²¹⁹ In study III, Spearman rank correlation test was used to evaluate relationship between MRC, CCQ, spirometry, V/P SPECT and HRCT parameters. For comparison between groups, two tailed Mann-Whitney U was employed. In study IV, comparisons between the follow-up occasions were performed with the paired Student t test.

Result and Comments

V/P SPECT in the diagnosis of LHF (Study I)

LHF is common, especially among the elderly. When the left ventricle fails to meet the functional demands of the body, symptoms such as dyspnea, fatigue and pulmonary edema will occur. Modern treatment has resulted in better long term survival in patients with LHF and it is therefore important to identify these patients early.

In study I we investigated if LHF could be diagnosed using V/P SPECT. An algorithm to objectively calculate perfusion gradients was also developed. The algorithm was validated in a mathematical phantom. Errors in gradient determination were essentially independent of gradient direction or magnitude. When edge effects were added to the predefined gradient phantom, the measurement error was still modest (SD of the fitted Gaussian distribution=0.45%/ cm) [Fig 4A]. When random structures were added to simulate conditions such as obstructive lung disease, gradient precision suffered, as expected, but could still to a reasonable degree discriminate between positive and negative gradients (SD=1.48%/cm) [Fig 4B].

The study retrospectively included 247 patients (61% in-house patients) who had been referred to V/P SPECT due to clinical suspicion of PE. Among the 247 consecutive patients, as many as 36 patients (15%) were qualitatively identified as congestive LHF with V/P SPECT [Fig 5]. In three of these patients LHF was combined with PE. PE was in total identified in 25% of the patients. Among PE and LHF patients it was common with ventilation and perfusion abnormalities indicative of other coexisting disease. This illustrates the importance of taking ancillary diagnoses into consideration. Only 67 patients (27%) had a normal V/P SPECT pattern. Clinical follow-up of the patients with LHF pattern was performed through hospital records. Heart failure diagnosis was confirmed in 32 out of the 36 patients (PPV = 88%). The four remaining patients all had heart disease but the diagnosis of LHF could not be established with assertion.

As perfusion gradients had shown promising results in the phantom studies



Figure 4. Fidelity in perfusion gradient extraction: (A) Summary of results of automatic 3-D gradient extraction from the phantom seen in figure 3A. The trial consisted of 27 slice sets, each having known gradients in three body-oriented orthogonal directions. The histogram shows the distribution of measurement error in these 81 measurements. SD of fitted Gaussian is 0.45%/cm. Summary of results as in (A), but with random gross structures added (phantom seen in fig 3B). SD of fitted Gaussian is 1.48%/cm.

they were applied to the patients scintigraphic data. Perfusion gradients could confidently be calculated in 244 out of the 247 patients. The median craniocaudal gradient of the patients was -1.22%/cm and the median dorso-ventral gradient was -1.05%/cm. In V/P SPECT examinations which were regarded as normal, the median cranio-caudal gradient was -0.81%/cm and the median dorso-ventral gradient was -3.58%/cm [Fig 6]. In the 36 patients with LHF pattern, the perfusion gradients differed significantly from those found in normal patients in both cranio-caudal (-2.33%/cm, P=0.0001) and dorsoventral directions (4.08%/cm, P<0.0001) [Fig 6]. The overlap of the dorsoventral perfusion gradient values between LHF patients and those who were considered as normal was modest, indicating that this could be a potential tool in the diagnosis of LHF. It is notable that five of the patients who were initially reported as normal, had positive dorso-ventral perfusion gradients. In these five patients, heart failure was never considered as a differential diagnosis in medical records but all patients had accelerating breathlessness and one of the patients had earlier suffered from myocardial infarction. One may speculate if some of these patients suffered from pulmonary congestion at the time of V/P SPECT examination. Another observation made with V/P SPECT, was a fast normalization of perfusion distribution in patients after anticongestive treatment.

Thus, this study showed that LHF is common among patients with suspected PE. This study also indicates that V/P SPECT can be used in the diagnosis of LHF. If V/P SPECT is useful in the follow-up of LHF needs to be further studied.



V/P SPECT in cardiopulmonary disease

Figure 5. Patient with known left heart failure. Images obtained with the patient in supine position. Redistribution of perfusion to ventral parts of the lungs (arrow). Because ventilation is not affected to the same degree, non-segmental mismatch is seen.



Figure 6. Comparision of perfusion gradients (%/cm) in patients with normal and left heart failure (LHF) pattern in ventilation-perfusion single photon emission computed tomography (V/P SPECT). (A) Perfusion gradients in the cranio-caudal direction. (B) Perfusion gradients in the dorso-ventral direction. The Mann-Whitney test was used for statistics.

Comparison of ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Technegas (Study II)

Radioaerosols are widely used in lung scintigraphy to assess regional ventilation. ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Technegas are the most commonly used radioaerosols. Although they have different particle size and ability to form bonds with water they have not been compared in a head-to-head study. This was important to evaluate before the role of V/P SPECT in COPD could be further studied. The aim of study II was therefore to investigate the differences between ventilation studies performed ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Technegas. 63 out of the 65 included



Figure 7. Relationship between ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Technegas ventilation SPECT images regarding the degree of overall unevenness (A), central deposition (B) and peripheral deposition (C). Dotted lines are identity lines. *P*-value for paired comparision is shown for all patients (P_A). Statistics was performed with Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

patients were available for blinded analysis. Both patients with and without known obstructive lung disease were included.

In patients with normal or near normal ventilation there was a good resemblance between 99mTc-DTPA and 99mTc-Technegas ventilation images. This is consistent with previous studies in which the diagnostic properties of ^{99m}Tc-DTPA have been comparable to those of krypton, in the diagnosis of PE.^{146,162} However, in patients who did not have a normal ventilation, there were differences between the two ventilation agents. ^{99m}Tc-Technegas, with its smaller particle size and hydrophobic properties, was more homogenously distributed in the lungs with less deposition in central and peripheral airways [Fig 7]. 99mTc-Technegas showed a better peripheral penetration which lead to fewer areas with reverse mismatch. Adequate distribution of radioaerosol to peripheral airways and alveoli is important as ventilation otherwise could be underestimated. In study II, this was illustrated by the finding of V/P mismatch consistent with PE in three COPD patients when 99mTc-Technegas was used as ventilation agent. This mismatch was not recognized with ^{99m}Tc-DTPA. PE is common among patients with COPD as well as other cardiopulmonary conditions and is therefore important to identify. Among patients without known obstructive disease, six patients with findings consistent with PE were identified with 99mTc-DTPA and seven patients when ^{99m}Tc-Technegas was used. In Figure 8, the distribution of ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Technegas in selected patients is illustrated.

We concluded that ^{99m}Tc-Technegas should be regarded as the aerosol of choice to increase the diagnostic accuracy in patients with suspected PE or other cardiopulmonary disease.

	MRC		CCO	CCQ		Emphysema _{HRCT}		TotRed _{V/P SPECT}		Obstr _{V/P SPECT}	
_	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р	
%VC (% pred)	-0.19	0.32	-0.06	0.74	0.11	0.58	-0.15	0.43	-0.18	0.33	
%FEV1 (% pred)	0.08	0.66	-0.04	0.85	-0.27	0.17	-0.62	0.0003	-0.64	0.0001	
FEV ₁ /VC	0.33	0.08	0.07	0.70	-0.56	0.002	-0.74	< 0.0001	-0.71	< 0.0001	
%FEV1/VC (% pred)	0.36	0.05	0.06	0.75	-0.47	0.012	-0.70	< 0.0001	-0.67	< 0.0001	
%TLC (% pred)	-0.30	0.11	0.01	0.97	0.50	0.007	0.39	0.035	0.29	0.11	
%RV (% pred)	-0.28	0.14	0.02	0.90	0.35	0.064	0.42	0.020	0.37	0.047	
%FRC (% pred)	-0.16	0.41	0.10	0.60	0.20	0.31	0.18	0.33	0.18	0.35	
%DLCO (% pred)	-0.15	0.45	-0.21	0.29	-0.42	0.037	-0.37	0.05	-0.35	0.06	
Emphysema _{HRCT} (%)	0.12	0.53	0.04	0.85			0.69	< 0.0001	0.66	0.0001	
TotRed _{V/P SPECT} (%)	-0.09	0.64	0.00	0.99	0.69	< 0.0001			0.96	< 0.0001	
Obstr _{V/P SPECT} (u)	-0.10	0.59	-0.02	0.92	0.66	0.0001	0.96	< 0.0001			

Table 1. Spearman correlation matrix between spirometry, symptom questionnaires, emphysema extent, V/P SPECT assessed reduction in lung function and obstructive disease grade.



Figure 8 (opposite page). V/P SPECT with ^{99m}Tc-DTPA and ^{99m}Tc-Technegas. (A) Images from a patient with suspected PE show extensive, mismatched perfusion defects of segmental character. Technegas tends to better delineate the parenchyma in the costodiaphragmatic recesses (arrow). (B) Patient with alveolitis observed as an elevated background activity only in DTPA images (arrow). (C) Mild obstructive lung disease. Signs of pneumonia in lingular segments on CT with corresponding nearly matched reduction in V/P scans (arrows). PE was clinically suspected as was also the case when Technegas ventilation images were used. (D) Moderate COPD and congestive heart failure. Severe central deposition (solid arrow) lead to interpretation difficulties when DTPA was used. Dashed arrow shows redistribution of perfusion to ventral parts of the lung as a sign of heart failure. (E) Reduced ventilation and perfusion due to severe COPD and emphysema. Considerable peripheral deposition of ventilation pharmaceutical is seen (arrow).

V/P SPECT in the diagnosis and classification of COPD (Study III)

The diagnosis and classification of COPD, is according to GOLD and ATS/ ERS criteria presently based on FEV_1 . FEV_1 do not explain the pathophysiology behind the airflow limitation and has a low sensitivity to early changes in COPD. Early detection of COPD is essential so that efforts to modify its course can be made. In study III, our aim was to evaluate the potential of V/P SPECT in the diagnosis and characterization of COPD. 30 patients with moderate to very severe COPD were studied. The patients were examined with Technegas V/P SPECT, HRCT and spirometry. They were also examined regarding static lung volumes and D_LCO. Symptoms, dyspnea and functional state were assessed with the MRC dyspnea and the CCQ scale. Spearman correlation matrix is shown in [Table 1].

We found no correlation between the two symptom scales and the objective measures of lung function or alveolar destruction. Both CCQ and MRC have been used to predict morbidity and mortality in COPD populations but, in agreement with our results, the correlation with FEV₁ has been weak or absent.^{117,119} This may be one of the reasons why COPD diagnosis often is delayed. V/P SPECT was used to assess the degree of lung function reduction (ventilation and/or perfusion) as a percent of the total lung volume. V/P SPECT was also used to classify the degree of obstructive lung disease, if present, as mild, moderate or severe. Classification was based on the effect that the obstructive changes had on regional ventilation and perfusion. In patients with COPD, we

found that the parameters indicating obstructive lung disease, according to VP SPECT, inversely correlated to FEV₁ and FEV₁/VC [Fig 9]. Emphysema extent was assessed with HRCT. The extent of emphysema increased with increasing reduction of lung function and scintigraphic degree of obstructive disease. The extent of emphysema did not correlate with changes in FEV₁, but a moderate correlation was seen with FEV₁/VC [Fig 9]. In four of the COPD patients, redistribution of regional perfusion indicating LHF was found. Three out of these patients had known heart disease. LHF diagnosis was previously only known in one of the four patients. In three patients segmentally mismatched perfusion defects consistent with PE were observed. LHF and PE are important to detect among COPD patients. Although no spirometry was performed in the 33 patients from study II, which were used in this study to avoid interpretation bias, 28 of them had no known obstructive disease. Only three out of these 28 patients were classified as having mild obstructive lung disease on V/P SPECT.



Figure 9. Relations between: (A) FEV_1/VC and total reduction in lung function as assessed with V/P SPECT (TotRed_{V/P SPECT}); (B) FEV_1/VC and the degree of obstructive lung disease as assessed with V/P SPECT (Obstr_{V/P SPECT}); (C) FEV_1 as percent of predicted (%FEV₁) and TotRed_{V/P SPECT}; and (D) emphysema as assessed with HRCT (Emphysema_{HRCT}) and TotRed_{V/P SPECT}.

Ventilation scintigraphy has previously been shown to be more sensitive to obstructive lung changes than spirometric flow rates and lung volumes.^{220 99m}Tc-Technegas ventilation SPECT and HRCT has been compared in the detection of early histological changes of small airway disease including emphysema.²¹³ V/P SPECT has in this and other studies been shown to be more sensitive than HRCT in the detection of early changes of alveolar destruction as well as other small airway disease.^{212,213,221}

Although larger studies are needed, our study shows that V/P SPECT has a clinical role in the diagnosis of COPD. V/P SPECT can also be used to characterize the severity of COPD.

V/P SPECT in the follow up of treated PE (Study IV)

In PE symptoms are nonspecific. Therefore the diagnosis of PE relies on medical imaging. Treatment of PE with heparin followed by an oral anticoagulant is well established. However, the most favourable duration of anticoagulant treatment has been the subject of debate. Follow-up and decisions on treatment duration is today based on continuing symptoms and presence of risk factors. An objective follow-up on whether the acute episode of PE has been effectively treated is rarely performed. CTPA is not suitable for follow-up. In study IV, we used V/P SPECT to monitor the course of treated PE. While on anticoagulant treatment,



serial V/P SPECT examinations were performed on the patients in the study. Patients were examined at 2 weeks, 3 months and 6 months after the time of diagnosis. Clinical follow-up by was performed at the same occasions.

All patients were symptomatic at the time of diagnosis. The most common symptoms were dyspnea and chest pain when breathing. After a few days of anticoagulant treatment, symptoms became less frequent, and after tree months of treatment all patients were asymptomatic.

During the first 2 weeks of treatment we observed a significant decline in PE extent (P<0.001) [Fig 10]. PE extent decreased in all patients except one. At 2 weeks, 43% of the patients were regarded as free from PE. This is consistent with previous observations.²²² After 3 months, >70% of the patients were free from signs of PE. However, five patients showed residual PE perfusion defects at 3-month follow-up. In all these patients, persistent perfusion defects were still found after six months treatment with anticoagulants. Four out of the five patients were regarded as chronic PE. Patients with chronic PE are important to identify as this is a risk factor for the development of chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension.⁵² The findings in study IV indicate that V/P SPECT can contribute to the definition of PE therapies, better aimed at individual patients.

Hence, follow-up of PE with V/P SPECT is feasible and will help to evaluate treatment effectiveness and to identify patients who develop chronic PE. Resolution of perfusion defects after PE occurs within the first three months of treatment.

Major conclusions

The major conclusions of each paper were:

- I. LHF is common among patients with suspected PE. V/P SPECT can be used to diagnose LHF with a high positive predictive value. An inverted perfusion gradient in the gravitational direction should lead to the consideration of LHF diagnosis.
- II. ^{99m}Tc-Technegas is the aerosol of choice in V/P SPECT studies.
- III. V/P SPECT can give additional information in the diagnosis of COPD. Scintigraphic signs of COPD should therefore, whenever found, be reported. V/P SPECT can also be used to characterize the severity of COPD.
- IV. Follow-up with V/P SPECT after acute PE is feasible to evaluate treatment effectiveness. Restoration of regional perfusion after PE occurred during the first 3 months of treatment, but not thereafter. V/P SPECT follow-up after an episode of PE seems important since about 20% of the patients had remaining perfusion defects at three months after diagnosis, although all were free from symptoms.

Bibliography

- Guyton AC, Hall JE. Textbook of Medical Physiology. 11th ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders, 2006;
- Crystal RG, West JB, Weibel ER, et al. The Lung: Scientific foundations. 2nd ed. New York: Lippincott-Raven, 1997;
- Snell RS. The thorax: Part II. The thoracic cavity. Clinical anatomy. Baltimore: Lippincott Williams & Willkins, 2004
- 4. The Respiratory System. In: Marieb EN, Hoehn K, eds. Human Anatomy & Physiology. San Francisco: Pearson Benjamin Cummings, 2010
- 5. Goldhaber SZ. Pulmonary embolism. Lancet 2004; 363:1295-1305
- Horsfield K, Cumming G. Morphology of the bronchial tree in man. J Appl Physiol 1968; 24:373-383
- Cloutier MM, Thrall RS. Respiratory System. In: Berne RM, Levy MN, Koeppen BM, et al., eds. Physiology. St. Louis: Mosby, 2004
- 8. Parkes MJ. Breath-holding and its breakpoint. Exp Physiol 2006; 91:1-15
- Hogg JC, Macklem PT, Thurlbeck WM. Site and nature of airway obstruction in chronic obstructive lung disease. N Engl J Med 1968; 278:1355-1360
- 10. Mead J. The lung's "quiet zone". N Engl J Med 1970; 282:1318-1319
- 11. Parodi F. La mécanique pulmonaire. Paris: Masson et cie, 1933;
- 12. Agostoni E. Mechanics of the pleural space. Physiol Rev 1972; 52:57-128
- 13. Agostoni E, D'Angelo E. Pleural liquid pressure. J Appl Physiol 1991; 71:393-403
- Milic-Emili J, Henderson JA, Dolovich MB, et al. Regional distribution of inspired gas in the lung. J Appl Physiol 1966; 21:749-759
- Bake B, Bjure J, Grimby G, et al. Regional distribution of inspired gas in supine man. Scand J Respir Dis 1967; 48:189-196
- Kaneko K, Milic-Emili J, Dolovich MB, et al. Regional distribution of ventilation and perfusion as a function of body position. J Appl Physiol 1966; 21:767-777
- Glazier JB, Hughes JM, Maloney JE, et al. Vertical gradient of alveolar size in lungs of dogs frozen intact. J Appl Physiol 1967; 23:694-705
- Amis TC, Jones HA, Hughes JM. Effect of posture on inter-regional distribution of pulmonary ventilation in man. Respir Physiol 1984; 56:145-167
- Bryan AC, Milic-Emili J, Pengelly D. Effect of gravity on the distribution of pulmonary ventilation. J Appl Physiol 1966; 21:778-784
- Bryan AC, Bentivoglio LG, Beerel F, et al. Factors Affecting Regional Distribution of Ventilation and Perfusion in the Lung. J Appl Physiol 1964; 19:395-402
- West JB, Dollery CT. Distribution of blood flow and ventilation-perfusion ratio in the lung, measured with radioactive carbon dioxide. J Appl Physiol 1960; 15:405-410
- 22. West JB, Dollery CT, Naimark A. Distribution of Blood Flow in Isolated Lung; Relation to Vascular and Alveolar Pressures. J Appl Physiol 1964; 19:713-724
- West JB. Blood Flow. In: West JB, ed. Regional differences in the lung. New York, London: Academic Press, 1977; 85-165
- 24. Engel LA, Utz G, Wood LD, et al. Ventilation distribution in anatomical lung units. J Appl

Jonas Jögi

	Physiol 1974; 37:194-200
25.	Hakim TS, Dean GW, Lisbona R. Effect of body posture on spatial distribution of pulmonary
	blood flow. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64:1160-1170
26.	Hakim TS, Lisbona R, Dean GW. Gravity-independent inequality in pulmonary blood flow in
	humans. J Appl Physiol 1987; 63:1114-1121
27.	Lisbona R, Dean GW, Hakim TS. Observations with SPECT on the normal regional distribution
	of pulmonary blood flow in gravity independent planes. J Nucl Med 1987; 28:1758-1762
28.	Glenny RW, Lamm WJ, Albert RK, et al. Gravity is a minor determinant of pulmonary blood
• •	flow distribution. J Appl Physiol 1991; 71:620-629
29.	Glenny RW, Bernard S, Robertson HT, et al. Gravity is an important but secondary determinant
20	of regional pulmonary blood flow in upright primates. J Appl Physiol 1999; 86:623-632
30.	Hugnes M, west JB. Last word on Point: Counterpoint: Gravity is/is not the major factor
21	Clemmy P. Last word on Point: Counterpoint: Growity is/is not the major factor determining the
51.	distribution of blood flow in the human lung. I Appl Physiol 2008: 104:1540
32	Petersson I. Rohdin M. Sanchez-Cresno A. et al. Regional lung blood flow and ventilation in
52.	unright humans studied with quantitative SPECT. Respire Physiol Neurobiol 2009: 166:54-60
33	West GB. Brown JH. Enguist BJ. A general model for the origin of allometric scaling laws in
	biology. Science 1997: 276:122-126
34.	Glenny RW, Robertson HT. Fractal modeling of pulmonary blood flow heterogeneity. J Appl
	Physiol 1991; 70:1024-1030
35.	Hoffman EA, Ritman EL. Effect of body orientation on regional lung expansion in dog and
	sloth. J Appl Physiol 1985; 59:481-491
36.	Yang QH, Kaplowitz MR, Lai-Fook SJ. Regional variations in lung expansion in rabbits: prone
	vs. supine positions. J Appl Physiol 1989; 67:1371-1376
37.	Prisk GK, Yamada K, Henderson AC, et al. Pulmonary perfusion in the prone and supine
20	Postures in the normal numan lung. J Appl Physiol 2007; 103:883-894
56.	perfusion in different respiratory phases in healthy volunteers. Ann Nucl Med 2002: 16:533-539
39	Hughes IM Glazier IB Maloney IE et al Effect of lung volume on the distribution of
	pulmonary blood flow in man. Respir Physiol 1968: 4:58-72
40.	Milic-Emili J. Ventilation. In: West JB, ed. Regional differences in the lung. New York, London:
	Academic Press, 1977; 167-199
41.	Euler USv, Liljestrand G. Observations on the Pulmonary Arterial Blood Pressure in the Cat.
	Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 1946; 12:301-320
42.	Sando Y, Inoue T, Nagai R, et al. Ventilation/perfusion ratios and simultaneous dual-radionuclide
	single-photon emission tomography with krypton-81m and technetium-99m macroaggregated
10	albumin. Eur J Nucl Med 1997; 24:1237-1244
43.	Wilson IA, Beck KC. Contributions of ventilation and perfusion inhomogeneities to the VA/Q
11	Almquist H. Jonson B. Palmer I. et al. Regional VA/O ratios in manusing 133Ye and single
44.	nhoton emission computed tomography (SPECT) corrected for attenuation. Clin Physiol 1999
	19:475-481
45.	Brudin LH, Rhodes CG, Valind SO, et al. Interrelationships between regional blood flow, blood
	volume, and ventilation in supine humans. J Appl Physiol 1994; 76:1205-1210
46.	Lavender JP, Al-Nahhas AM, Myers MJ. Ventilation perfusion ratios of the normal supine lung
	using emission tomography. Br J Radiol 1984; 57:141-146
47.	Barritt DW, Jordan SC. Anticoagulant drugs in the treatment of pulmonary embolism. A
	controlled trial. Lancet 1960; 1:1309-1312
48.	Goldhaber SZ, Visani L, De Rosa M. Acute pulmonary embolism: clinical outcomes in the
	International Cooperative Pulmonary Embolism Registry (ICOPER). Lancet 1999; 353:1386-
40	1589 Stain DD, Kavali F, Olaan DE, Estimated agos fat-lite ante of multi-survey such oliging 1070 (
47.	Stem FD, Kayan F, Olson KE. Estimated case ratanty rate of pulmonary embolism, 1979 to
50	Value of the ventilation/nerfusion scan in acute pulmonary embolism. Results of the prospective
20.	investigation of pulmonary embolism diagnosis (PIOPED). The PIOPED Investigators. Jama

1990; 263:2753-2759 51. Tunariu N, Gibbs SJ, Win Z, et al. Ventilation-perfusion scintigraphy is more sensitive than multidetector CTPA in detecting chronic thromboembolic pulmonary disease as a treatable cause of pulmonary hypertension. J Nucl Med 2007; 48:680-684 52. Pengo V, Lensing AW, Prins MH, et al. Incidence of chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension after pulmonary embolism. N Engl J Med 2004; 350:2257-2264 53. Hansson PO, Welin L, Tibblin G, et al. Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism in the general population. 'The Study of Men Born in 1913'. Arch Intern Med 1997; 157:1665-1670 54. Silverstein MD, Heit JA, Mohr DN, et al. Trends in the incidence of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: a 25-year population-based study. Arch Intern Med 1998; 158:585-593 55 White RH. The epidemiology of venous thromboembolism. Circulation 2003; 107:I4-8 56. Nordstrom M, Lindblad B. Autopsy-verified venous thromboembolism within a defined urban population--the city of Malmo, Sweden, APMIS 1998: 106:378-384 57. Baic M, Neilly JB, Miniati M, et al. EANM guidelines for ventilation/perfusion scintigraphy : Part 1. Pulmonary imaging with ventilation/perfusion single photon emission tomography. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2009; 36:1356-1370 58. Eriksson L, Wollmer P, Olsson CG, et al. Diagnosis of pulmonary embolism based upon alveolar dead space analysis. Chest 1989: 96:357-362 59. Hedenstierna G, Hammond M, Mathieu-Costello O, et al. Functional lung unit in the pig. Respir Physiol 2000; 120:139-149 60. Wood KE. Major pulmonary embolism: review of a pathophysiologic approach to the golden hour of hemodynamically significant pulmonary embolism. Chest 2002; 121:877-905 61. Torbicki A. Perrier A. Konstantinides S. et al. Guidelines on the diagnosis and management of acute pulmonary embolism: the Task Force for the Diagnosis and Management of Acute Pulmonary Embolism of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2008; 29:2276-2315 62. Kasper W, Geibel A, Tiede N, et al. Patent foramen ovale in patients with haemodynamically significant pulmonary embolism. Lancet 1992; 340:561-564 63. Tapson VF. Acute pulmonary embolism. N Engl J Med 2008; 358:1037-1052 64. Anderson FA, Jr., Spencer FA. Risk factors for venous thromboembolism. Circulation 2003; 107:19-16 65. Miniati M, Prediletto R, Formichi B, et al. Accuracy of clinical assessment in the diagnosis of pulmonary embolism. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:864-871 66. Wells PS, Ginsberg JS, Anderson DR, et al. Use of a clinical model for safe management of patients with suspected pulmonary embolism. Ann Intern Med 1998; 129:997-1005 Bajc M, Neilly JB, Miniati M, et al. EANM guidelines for ventilation/perfusion scintigraphy 67. : Part 2. Algorithms and clinical considerations for diagnosis of pulmonary emboli with V/ P(SPECT) and MDCT. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2009; 36:1528-1538 68. Roach PJ, Bailey DL, Harris BE. Enhancing lung scintigraphy with single-photon emission computed tomography. Semin Nucl Med 2008; 38:441-449 69. British Thoracic Society guidelines for the management of suspected acute pulmonary embolism. Thorax 2003; 58:470-483 Kearon C, Kahn SR, Agnelli G, et al. Antithrombotic therapy for venous thromboembolic 70. disease: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition). Chest 2008; 133:454S-545S 71. Agnelli G, Becattini C. Treatment of DVT: how long is enough and how do you predict recurrence. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2008; 25:37-44 72. Prandoni P, Noventa F, Ghirarduzzi A, et al. The risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism after discontinuing anticoagulation in patients with acute proximal deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism. A prospective cohort study in 1.626 patients. Haematologica 2007; 92:199-205 73. Campbell IA, Bentley DP, Prescott RJ, et al. Anticoagulation for three versus six months in patients with deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism, or both: randomised trial. BMJ 2007: 334:674 Palareti G, Leali N, Coccheri S, et al. Bleeding complications of oral anticoagulant treatment: an 74. inception-cohort, prospective collaborative study (ISCOAT). Italian Study on Complications of

Jonas Jögi

	Oral Anticoagulant Therapy. Lancet 1996; 348:423-428
75.	Pinede L, Cucherat M, Duhaut P, et al. Optimal duration of anticoagulant therapy after an
	episode of venous thromboembolism. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 2000; 11:701-707
76.	Celli BR, MacNee W. Standards for the diagnosis and treatment of patients with COPD: a
	summary of the ATS/ERS position paper. Eur Respir J 2004; 23:932-946
77.	Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD). Global strategy for the
	diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (updated
	2009). www.goldcopd.com, 2009
78.	Mannino DM, Watt G, Hole D, et al. The natural history of chronic obstructive pulmonary
	disease. Eur Respir J 2006; 27:627-643
79.	Chen JC, Mannino DM. Worldwide epidemiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.
	Curr Opin Pulm Med 1999; 5:93-99
80.	Lopez AD, Shibuya K, Rao C, et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: current burden and
	future projections. Eur Respir J 2006; 27:397-412
81.	Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990-2020:
	Global Burden of Disease Study. Lancet 1997; 349:1498-1504
82.	Fabricius P, Lokke A, Marott JL, et al. Prevalence of COPD in Copenhagen. Respir Med 2010
83.	Melville AM, Pless-Mulloli T, Afolabi OA, et al. COPD prevalence and its association with
	occupational exposures in a general population. Eur Respir J 2010; 36:488-493
84.	Nacul L, Soljak M, Samarasundera E, et al. COPD in England: a comparison of expected,
	model-based prevalence and observed prevalence from general practice data. J Public Health
	(Oxf) 2010
85.	Buist AS, McBurnie MA, Vollmer WM, et al. International variation in the prevalence of COPD
	(the BOLD Study): a population-based prevalence study. Lancet 2007; 370:741-750
86.	Rennard S, Decramer M, Calverley PM, et al. Impact of COPD in North America and Europe
	in 2000: subjects' perspective of Confronting COPD International Survey. Eur Respir J 2002;
	20:799-805
87.	Fletcher C, Peto R. The natural history of chronic airflow obstruction. Br Med J 1977; 1:1645-
~~	
88.	Anthonisen NR, Connett JE, Kiley JP, et al. Effects of smoking intervention and the use of an
	inhaled anticholinergic bronchodilator on the rate of decline of FEV1. The Lung Health Study.
0.0	JAMA 1994; 272:1497-1505
89.	Godtfredsen NS, Vestbo J, Osler M, et al. Risk of nospital admission for COPD following
00	smoking cessation and reduction: a Danish population study. I horax 2002; 57:967-972
90.	Anthonisen NK, Skeans MA, wise KA, et al. The effects of a smoking cessation intervention on
01	14.5-year mortanity: a randomized clinical trial. Ann Intern Med 2005; 142:255-259
91.	Humerleit S, Guisvik A, Skjaerven K, et al. Decine in FEVI and airliow limitation related to
02	Staller IV. Abousseven LS. Almhol antitrumain definition V. Longet 2005: 265:2225, 2226
92.	Stoner JK, Aboussouan LS. Alphar-annu ypsin denciency. Lancet 2005, 505.2225-2250
<i>93</i> .	obstructive pulmonary disease have a significant rick of airflow obstruction. Am I Pesnir Crit
	Care Med 2001: 164:1419-1424
94	Saetta M. Turato G. Baraldo S. et al. Goblet cell hyperplasia and epithelial inflammation in
74.	peripheral airways of smokers with both symptoms of chronic bronchitis and chronic airflow
	limitation Am I Respir Crit Care Med 2000: 161:1016-1021
95	Keatings VM Collins PD Scott DM et al. Differences in interleukin-8 and tumor necrosis
<i>)0</i> .	factor-alpha in induced sputum from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or
	asthma Am I Respir Crit Care Med 1996: 153:530-534
96	Barnes PL Mediators of chronic obstructive nulmonary disease Pharmacol Rev 2004: 56:515-
20.	548
97.	Barnes PJ. Celli BR. Systemic manifestations and comorbidities of COPD. Eur Respir J 2009:
	33:1165-1185
98.	Lofdahl CG. COPD and co-morbidities, with special emphasis on cardiovascular conditions.
	Clin Respir J 2008; 2 Suppl 1:59-63
99.	Ekberg-Aronsson M, Lofdahl K, Nilsson JA, et al. Hospital admission rates among men and
	women with symptoms of chronic bronchitis and airflow limitation corresponding to the GOLD

stages of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease--a population-based study. Respir Med 2008; 102:109-120

- Fabbri LM, Luppi F, Beghe B, et al. Complex chronic comorbidities of COPD. Eur Respir J 2008; 31:204-212
- Rutten FH, Cramer MJ, Lammers JW, et al. Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: An ignored combination? Eur J Heart Fail 2006; 8:706-711
- Rutten FH, Moons KG, Cramer MJ, et al. Recognising heart failure in elderly patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in primary care: cross sectional diagnostic study. BMJ 2005; 331:1379
- Rizkallah J, Man SF, Sin DD. Prevalence of pulmonary embolism in acute exacerbations of COPD: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Chest 2009; 135:786-793
- 104. Stein PD, Beemath A, Meyers FA, et al. Pulmonary embolism and deep venous thrombosis in hospitalized adults with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) 2007; 8:253-257
- Mispelaere D, Glerant JC, Audebert M, et al. [Pulmonary embolism and sibilant types of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease decompensations]. Rev Mal Respir 2002; 19:415-423
- Tillie-Leblond I, Marquette CH, Perez T, et al. Pulmonary embolism in patients with unexplained exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: prevalence and risk factors. Ann Intern Med 2006; 144:390-396
- Peinado VI, Pizarro S, Barbera JA. Pulmonary vascular involvement in COPD. Chest 2008; 134:808-814
- King GG, Harris B, Mahadev S. V/Q SPECT: utility for investigation of pulmonary physiology. Semin Nucl Med 2010; 40:467-473
- Pellegrino R, Viegi G, Brusasco V, et al. Interpretative strategies for lung function tests. Eur Respir J 2005; 26:948-968
- Roberts SD, Farber MO, Knox KS, et al. FEV1/FVC ratio of 70% misclassifies patients with obstruction at the extremes of age. Chest 2006; 130:200-206
- Nationellt vårdprogram för kronisk obstruktiv lungsjukdom (uppdaterat 2008-03-29). www.slmf. se/kol
- 112. Sashidhar K, Gulati M, Gupta D, et al. Emphysema in heavy smokers with normal chest radiography. Detection and quantification by HCRT. Acta Radiol 2002; 43:60-65
- 113. Washko GR, Criner GJ, Mohsenifar Z, et al. Computed tomographic-based quantification of emphysema and correlation to pulmonary function and mechanics. Copd 2008; 5:177-186
- Gelb AF, Hogg JC, Muller NL, et al. Contribution of emphysema and small airways in COPD. Chest 1996; 109:353-359
- Uppaluri R, Mitsa T, Sonka M, et al. Quantification of pulmonary emphysema from lung computed tomography images. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:248-254
- Hogg JC, Wright JL, Wiggs BR, et al. Lung structure and function in cigarette smokers. Thorax 1994; 49:473-478
- 117. Bestall JC, Paul EA, Garrod R, et al. Usefulness of the Medical Research Council (MRC) dyspnoea scale as a measure of disability in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Thorax 1999; 54:581-586
- 118. Nishimura K, Izumi T, Tsukino M, et al. Dyspnea is a better predictor of 5-year survival than airway obstruction in patients with COPD. Chest 2002; 121:1434-1440
- van der Molen T, Willemse BW, Schokker S, et al. Development, validity and responsiveness of the Clinical COPD Questionnaire. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2003; 1:13
- Wolkove N, Dajczman E, Colacone A, et al. The relationship between pulmonary function and dyspnea in obstructive lung disease. Chest 1989; 96:1247-1251
- Celli BR, Cote CG, Marin JM, et al. The body-mass index, airflow obstruction, dyspnea, and exercise capacity index in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 2004; 350:1005-1012
- 122. Dickstein K, Cohen-Solal A, Filippatos G, et al. ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008: the Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association of the ESC (HFA) and endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM). Eur J Heart Fail 2008; 10:933-989

Jonas Jögi

123.	Hunt SA, Abraham WT, Chin MH, et al. 2009 focused update incorporated into the ACC/AHA 2005 Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Heart Failure in Adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines: developed in collaboration with the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation. Circulation 2009; 119:e391-479
124.	Cowie MR, Mosterd A, Wood DA, et al. The epidemiology of heart failure. Eur Heart J 1997; 18:208-225
125.	Stewart S, MacIntyre K, Hole DJ, et al. More 'malignant' than cancer? Five-year survival following a first admission for heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 2001; 3:315-322.
126.	Schaufelberger M, Swedberg K, Koster M, et al. Decreasing one-year mortality and hospitalization rates for heart failure in Sweden; Data from the Swedish Hospital Discharge Registry 1988 to 2000. Eur Heart J 2004; 25:300-307
127.	Aurigemma GP, Gaasch WH. Clinical practice. Diastolic heart failure. N Engl J Med 2004; 351:1097-1105
128.	Zile MR, Gaasch WH, Carroll JD, et al. Heart failure with a normal ejection fraction: is measurement of diastolic function necessary to make the diagnosis of diastolic heart failure? Circulation 2001; 104:779-782
129.	Wasserman K, Zhang YY, Gitt A, et al. Lung function and exercise gas exchange in chronic heart failure. Circulation 1997; 96:2221-2227
130.	Friedman WF, Braunwald E. Alterations in regional pulmonary blood flow in mitral valve disease studied by radioisotope scanning. A simple nontraumatic technique for estimation of left atrial pressure. Circulation 1966; 34:363-376
131.	West JB, Dollery CT, Heard BE. Increased Vascular Resistance in the Lower Zone of the Lung Caused by Perivascular Oedema. Lancet 1964; 284:181-183
132.	Mohsenifar Z, Amin DK, Shah PK. Regional distribution of lung perfusion and ventilation in patients with chronic congestive heart failure and its relationship to cardiopulmonary hemodynamics. Am Heart J 1989; 117:887-891
133.	Pistolesi M, Miniati M, Bonsignore M, et al. Factors affecting regional pulmonary blood flow in chronic ischemic heart disease. J Thorac Imaging 1988: 3:65-72
134.	Gadsboll N, Hoilund-Carlsen PF, Nielsen GG, et al. Symptoms and signs of heart failure in patients with myocardial infarction: reproducibility and relationship to chest X-ray, radionuclide ventriculography and right heart catheterization. Eur Heart J 1989; 10:1017-1028
135.	Hawkins NM, Petrie MC, Jhund PS, et al. Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: diagnostic pitfalls and epidemiology. Eur J Heart Fail 2009; 11:130-139
136.	Maisel A, Hollander JE, Guss D, et al. Primary results of the Rapid Emergency Department Heart Failure Outpatient Trial (REDHOT). A multicenter study of B-type natriuretic peptide levels, emergency department decision making, and outcomes in patients presenting with shortness of breath. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004; 44:1328-1333
137.	Wright SP, Doughty RN, Pearl A, et al. Plasma amino-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and accuracy of heart-failure diagnosis in primary care: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2003; 42:1793-1800
138.	Chakko S, Woska D, Martinez H, et al. Clinical, radiographic, and hemodynamic correlations in chronic congestive heart failure: conflicting results may lead to inappropriate care. Am J Med 1991; 90:353-359
139.	Collins SP, Lindsell CJ, Storrow AB, et al. Prevalence of negative chest radiography results in the emergency department patient with decompensated heart failure. Ann Emerg Med 2006; 47:13-18
140.	Kataoka H, Takada S. The role of thoracic ultrasonography for evaluation of patients with decompensated chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 35:1638-1646
141.	Costanzo WE, Fein SA. The role of the chest X-ray in the evaluation of chronic severe heart failure; things are not always as they appear. Clin Cardiol 1988; 11:486-488
142.	Henriksson L, Sundin A, Smedby O, et al. Assessment of congestive heart failure in chest radiographs. Observer performance with two common film-screen systems. Acta Radiol 1990; 31:469-471
143.	Shelton D, Wyatt R. Pulmonary scintigraphy. In: Brant W, Helms C, eds. Fundamentals of Diagnostic Radiology. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2007

- Wagner HN, Jr., Sabiston DC, Jr., Iio M, et al. Regional Pulmonary Blood Flow in Man by Radioisotope Scanning. Jama 1964; 187:601-603
- Bajc M, Neilly B, Miniati M, et al. Methodology for ventilation/perfusion SPECT. Semin Nucl Med 2010; 40:415-425
- Ramanna L, Alderson PO, Waxman AD, et al. Regional comparison of technetium-99m DTPA aerosol and radioactive gas ventilation (xenon and krypton) studies in patients with suspected pulmonary embolism. J Nucl Med 1986; 27:1391-1396
- 147. Hartmann IJ, Hagen PJ, Stokkel MP, et al. Technegas versus (81m)Kr ventilation-perfusion scintigraphy: a comparative study in patients with suspected acute pulmonary embolism. J Nucl Med 2001; 42:393-400
- Petersson J, Sanchez-Crespo A, Larsson SA, et al. Physiological imaging of the lung: singlephoton-emission computed tomography (SPECT). J Appl Physiol 2007; 102:468-476
- 149. Roach PJ, Bailey DL, Schembri GP, et al. Transition from planar to SPECT V/Q scintigraphy: rationale, practicalities, and challenges. Semin Nucl Med 2010; 40:397-407
- Valind SO, Rhodes CG, Jonson B. Quantification of regional ventilation in humans using a short-lived radiotracer--theoretical evaluation of the steady-state model. J Nucl Med 1987; 28:1144-1154
- Dolovich MA. Influence of inspiratory flow rate, particle size, and airway caliber on aerosolized drug delivery to the lung. Respir Care 2000; 45:597-608
- 152. Evander E, Wollmer P, Jonson B. Pulmonary clearance of inhaled [99Tcm]DTPA: effects of ventilation pattern. Clin Physiol 1990; 10:189-199
- 153. Oberdorster G. Pulmonary effects of inhaled ultrafine particles. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 2001; 74:1-8
- Finlay WH, Martin AR. Recent advances in predictive understanding of respiratory tract deposition. J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv 2008; 21:189-206
- Gottschalk A, Stein PD, Goodman LR, et al. Overview of Prospective Investigation of Pulmonary Embolism Diagnosis II. Semin Nucl Med 2002; 32:173-182
- Taplin GV, Chopra SK. Ventilation-perfusion studies in suspected pulmonary embolism. J Nucl Med 1977; 18:190-191
- Bondesson E, Bengtsson T, Nilsson LE, et al. Site of deposition and absorption of an inhaled hydrophilic solute. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2007; 63:722-731
- Strong JC, Agnew JE. The particle size distribution of technegas and its influence on regional lung deposition. Nucl Med Commun 1989; 10:425-430
- Beadsmoore C, Cheow HK, Szczepura K, et al. Healthy passive cigarette smokers have increased pulmonary alveolar permeability. Nucl Med Commun 2007; 28:75-77
- 160. Rinderknecht J, Shapiro L, Krauthammer M, et al. Accelerated clearance of small solutes from the lungs in interstitial lung disease. Am Rev Respir Dis 1980; 121:105-117
- Radiation dose to patients from radiopharmaceuticals (addendum 2 to ICRP publication 53). Ann ICRP 1998; 28:1-126
- Trujillo NP, Pratt JP, Talusani S, et al. DTPA aerosol in ventilation/perfusion scintigraphy for diagnosing pulmonary embolism. J Nucl Med 1997; 38:1781-1783
- Alderson PO, Biello DR, Gottschalk A, et al. Tc-99m-DTPA aerosol and radioactive gases compared as adjuncts to perfusion scintigraphy in patients with suspected pulmonary embolism. Radiology 1984; 153:515-521
- Burch WM, Sullivan PJ, McLaren CJ. Technegas--a new ventilation agent for lung scanning. Nucl Med Commun 1986; 7:865-871
- Senden TJ, Moock KH, Gerald JF, et al. The physical and chemical nature of technegas. J Nucl Med 1997; 38:1327-1333
- Lemb M, Oei TH, Eifert H, et al. Technegas: a study of particle structure, size and distribution. Eur J Nucl Med 1993; 20:576-579
- Burch WM, Boyd MM, Crellin DE. Technegas: particle size and distribution. Eur J Nucl Med 1994; 21:365-367
- Peltier P, De Faucal P, Chetanneau A, et al. Comparison of technetium-99m aerosol and krypton-81m in ventilation studies for the diagnosis of pulmonary embolism. Nucl Med Commun 1990; 11:631-638
- 169. Cook G, Clarke SE. An evaluation of Technegas as a ventilation agent compared with krypton-

Jonas Jögi		
170.	81 m in the scintigraphic diagnosis of pulmonary embolism. Eur J Nucl Med 1992; 19:770-774 James JM, Lloyd JJ, Leahy BC, et al. 99Tcm-Technegas and krypton-81m ventilation scintigraphy: a comparison in known respiratory disease. Br J Padiol 1992; 65:1075-1082	
171.	Taplin GV, Johnson DE, Dore EK, et al. Lung Photoscans with Macroaggregates of Human Serum Radioalbumin. Experimental Basis and Initial Clinical Trials. Health Phys 1964; 10:1210-1227	
172.	Petersson J, Sanchez-Crespo A, Rohdin M, et al. Physiological evaluation of a new quantitative SPECT method measuring regional ventilation and perfusion. J Appl Physiol 2004; 96:1127-1136	
173.	Palmer J, Bitzen U, Jonson B, et al. Comprehensive ventilation/perfusion SPECT. J Nucl Med 2001: 42:1288-1294	
174.	Wagner HN, Jr., Sabiston DC, Jr., McAfee JG, et al. Diagnosis of Massive Pulmonary Embolism in Man by Radioisotope Scanning, N Engl J Med 1964: 271:377-384	
175.	Bajc M, Jonson B. Conventional and SPECT lung imaging. In: Biersack H-J, Freeman L, eds. Clinical Nuclear Medicine. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag. 2007: 118-137	
176.	Hull RD, Raskob GE. Low-probability lung scan findings: a need for change. Ann Intern Med 1991: 114:142-143	
177.	Blachere H, Latrabe V, Montaudon M, et al. Pulmonary embolism revealed on helical CT angiography: comparison with ventilation-perfusion radionuclide lung scanning. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2000; 174:1041-1047	
178.	Stein PD, Fowler SE, Goodman LR, et al. Multidetector computed tomography for acute pulmonary embolism. N Engl J Med 2006: 354:2317-2327	
179.	Roach PJ, Bailey DL, Schembri GP. Reinventing ventilation/perfusion lung scanning with SPECT. Nucl Med Commun 2008: 29:1023-1025	
180.	Perrier A, Bounameaux H. Accuracy or outcome in suspected pulmonary embolism. N Engl J Med 2006: 354:2383-2385	
181.	Stein PD, Kayali F, Hull RD. Spiral computed tomography for the diagnosis of acute pulmonary embolism. Thromb Haemost 2007; 98:713-720	
182.	Schoepf UJ, Costello P. CT angiography for diagnosis of pulmonary embolism: state of the art. Radiology 2004; 230:329-337	
183.	Stein PD, Chenevert TL, Fowler SE, et al. Gadolinium-enhanced magnetic resonance angiography for pulmonary embolism: a multicenter prospective study (PIOPED III). Ann Intern Med 2010; 152:434-443, W142-433	
184.	Gutte H, Mortensen J, Jensen CV, et al. Detection of Pulmonary Embolism with Combined Ventilation-Perfusion SPECT and Low-Dose CT: Head-to-Head Comparison with Multidetector CT Angiography. J Nucl Med 2009	
185.	Mettler FA, Jr., Thomadsen BR, Bhargavan M, et al. Medical radiation exposure in the U.S. in 2006; preliminary results. Health Phys 2008; 95:502-507	
186.	Mettler FA, Jr., Bhargavan M, Faulkner K, et al. Radiologic and nuclear medicine studies in the United States and worldwide: frequency, radiation dose, and comparison with other radiation sources1950-2007. Radiology 2009; 253:520-531	
187.	Hurwitz LM, Yoshizumi TT, Goodman PC, et al. Radiation dose savings for adult pulmonary embolus 64-MDCT using bismuth breast shields, lower peak kilovoltage, and automatic tube current modulation. A IR Am J Roenteenol 2009; 192:244-253	
188.	Hurwitz LM, Yoshizumi TT, Reiman RE, et al. Radiation dose to the female breast from 16- MDCT body protocols. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2006: 186:1718-1722	
189.	Schembri GP, Miller AE, Smart R. Radiation dosimetry and safety issues in the investigation of pulmonary embolism. Semin Nucl Med 2010; 40:442-454	
190.	Parker MS, Hui FK, Camacho MA, et al. Female breast radiation exposure during CT pulmonary angiography. A IR Am I Reenteenol 2005; 185:1228-1233	
191.	Bjorkdahl P, Nyman U. Using 100- instead of 120-kVp computed tomography to diagnose pulmonary embolism almost halves the radiation dose with preserved diagnostic quality. Acta	
192.	Radiol 2010; 51:260-270 Hurwitz LM, Reiman RE, Yoshizumi TT, et al. Radiation dose from contemporary cardiothoracic multidetector CT protocols with an anthropomorphic female phantom: implications for cancer induction. Radiology 2007; 245:742-750	

- Bailey EA, Bailey DL, Roach PJ. V/Q imaging in 2010: a quick start guide. Semin Nucl Med 2010; 40:408-414
- Baje M, Bitzen U, Olsson B, et al. Lung ventilation/perfusion SPECT in the artificially embolized pig. J Nucl Med 2002; 43:640-647
- Zanzonico P, Heller S. Physics, instrumentation and radiation protection. In: Biersack H-J, Freeman L, eds. Clinical Nuclear Medicine. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag, 2007; 1-76
- Bajc M, Olsson CG, Olsson B, et al. Diagnostic evaluation of planar and tomographic ventilation/perfusion lung images in patients with suspected pulmonary emboli. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging 2004; 24:249-256
- Osborne D, Jaszczak R, Coleman RE, et al. Single photon emission computed tomography in the canine lung. J Comput Assist Tomogr 1981; 5:684-689
- Osborne DR, Jaszczak R, Coleman RE. Single photon emission computed tomography and its application in the lung. Radiol Clin North Am 1983; 21:789-800
- Osborne DR, Jaszczak RJ, Greer K, et al. Detection of pulmonary emboli in dogs: comparison of single photon emission computed tomography, gamma camera imaging, and angiography. Radiology 1983; 146:493-497
- Bajc M, Olsson B, Palmer J, et al. Ventilation/Perfusion SPECT for diagnostics of pulmonary embolism in clinical practice. J Intern Med 2008; 264:379-387
- Eustace S, Phelan N, Dowsett DJ, et al. A comparison of SPECT and planar ventilation perfusion lung scanning. Ir J Med Sci 1993; 162:82-85
- Corbus HF, Seitz JP, Larson RK, et al. Diagnostic usefulness of lung SPET in pulmonary thromboembolism: an outcome study. Nucl Med Commun 1997; 18:897-906
- Leblanc M, Leveillee F, Turcotte E. Prospective evaluation of the negative predictive value of V/Q SPECT using 99mTc-Technegas. Nucl Med Commun 2007; 28:667-672
- Lemb M, Pohlabeln H. Pulmonary thromboembolism: a retrospective study on the examination of 991 patients by ventilation/perfusion SPECT using Technegas. Nuklearmedizin 2001; 40:179-186
- Miles S, Rogers KM, Thomas P, et al. A comparison of single-photon emission CT lung scintigraphy and CT pulmonary angiography for the diagnosis of pulmonary embolism. Chest 2009; 136:1546-1553
- Reinartz P, Wildberger JE, Schaefer W, et al. Tomographic imaging in the diagnosis of pulmonary embolism: a comparison between V/Q lung scintigraphy in SPECT technique and multislice spiral CT. J Nucl Med 2004; 45:1501-1508
- 207. Collart JP, Roelants V, Vanpee D, et al. Is a lung perfusion scan obtained by using single photon emission computed tomography able to improve the radionuclide diagnosis of pulmonary embolism? Nucl Med Commun 2002; 23:1107-1113
- Gutte H, Mortensen J, Jensen CV, et al. Comparison of V/Q SPECT and planar V/Q lung scintigraphy in diagnosing acute pulmonary embolism. Nucl Med Commun 2010; 31:82-86
- Howarth DM, Booker JA, Voutnis DD. Diagnosis of pulmonary embolus using ventilation/ perfusion lung scintigraphy: more than 0.5 segment of ventilation/perfusion mismatch is sufficient. Intern Med J 2006; 36:281-288
- Freeman LM, Krynyckyi B, Zuckier LS. Enhanced lung scan diagnosis of pulmonary embolism with the use of ancillary scintigraphic findings and clinical correlation. Semin Nucl Med 2001; 31:143-157
- Hogg JC. Pathophysiology of airflow limitation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Lancet 2004; 364:709-721
- Suga K, Kawakami Y, Iwanaga H, et al. Assessment of anatomic relation between pulmonary perfusion and morphology in pulmonary emphysema with breath-hold SPECT-CT fusion images. Ann Nucl Med 2008; 22:339-347
- Yokoe K, Satoh K, Yamamoto Y, et al. Usefulness of 99mTc-Technegas and 133Xe dynamic SPECT in ventilatory impairment. Nucl Med Commun 2006; 27:887-892
- Suga K, Kawakami Y, Koike H, et al. Lung ventilation-perfusion imbalance in pulmonary emphysema: assessment with automated V/Q quotient SPECT. Ann Nucl Med 2010; 24:269-277
- Standardization of Spirometry, 1994 Update. American Thoracic Society. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995; 152:1107-1136
- 216. Fletcher CM, Elmes PC, Fairbairn A, et al. The significance of respiratory symptoms and the

diagnosis of chronic bronchitis in a working population. British Medical Journal 1959; 2:257–266

- Friedman WF, Braunwald E, Morrow AG. Alterations in regional pulmonary blood flow in patients with congenital heart disease studied by radioisotope scanning. Circulation 1968; 37:747-758
- 218. Olsson CG, Bitzen U, Olsson B, et al. Outpatient tinzaparin therapy in pulmonary embolism quantified with ventilation/perfusion scintigraphy. Med Sci Monit 2006; 12:PI9-13
- Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. Lancet 1986; 1:307-310
- Taplin GV, Tashkin DP, Chopra SK, et al. Early detection of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease using radionuclide lung-imaging procedures. Chest 1977; 71:567-575
- 221. Satoh K, Nakano S, Tanabe M, et al. A clinical comparison between Technegas SPECT, CT, and pulmonary function tests in patients with emphysema. Radiat Med 1997; 15:277-282
- 222. Kearon C. Natural history of venous thromboembolism. Circulation 2003; 107:I22-30

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who has helped and encouraged me during the work on this thesis. I want to give special thanks to:

Marika Bajc, my supervisor, for sharing your enormous enthusiasm and knowledge in the field of nuclear medicine and V/P SPECT, for inspiration, for guidance, and for endless support at any time of the day or week.

Björn Jonson, my co-supervisor, for being a true academic, for all your enthusiasm and wisdom, for encouragement, for all our vivid discussions, for accepting my late night emails, for your help in writing and for trusting in me at all times.

Håkan Arheden, for welcoming me to the department of Clinical Physiology, for your support in many ways, and for always taking time to discuss leadership, communication and life in general.

Marcus Carlsson, for making it possible for me to finish this thesis, and for encouraging words at moments when writing inspiration temporarily was lacking.

John Palmer, for all your knowledge in nuclear medicine physics and computer programming, for being one of the reasons why V/P SPECT works so well.

All my other co-authors for your contributions, especially Marie Ekberg and Amela Begic.

Kerstin Brauer, Märta Granbohm, Karin Larsson and Berit Olsson, for administrative support and for invaluable assistance with all those practical things in research.

All my colleagues at the department of Clinical Physiology, for your support and understanding, especially Bo Hedén, Henrik Mosén and Olle Pahlm who were covering for me in the clinic on "Sektion 1" when I was working on this thesis.

All co-workers at the department of Clinical Physiology and all members of the cardiac MR-group, for making this into such a stimulating place to work.

All friends, who despite my anti-social behaviour lately, still answer when I call (or send an email).

My wonderful parents, Gunilla and Peeter, for all your love and support through my life, for always believing in me and for always caring for me and my family. My sister, Jenny, for being you.

My wonderful parents-in-law, Pilla and Manfred, for all your support, and for all your help with our children when we were working late.

Finally, my greatest thanks go to my loving family; My wonderful children, Amanda and Felix, for always meeting me with a big hug and for reminding me of the essentials in life. My lovely wife Annika, for all your love, for always supporting me and guiding me through life and for accepting my sometimes endless hours. Thank you for letting me share my life with you.

You are, and will always be the most important in my life.

The studies in this thesis were in part supported by grants from the Swedish Heart and Lung Foundation and the Region of Scania.
Papers I-IV